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21 June 2024
Braveheart Investment Group plc

("Braveheart", the "Company" or the "Group")
 

Final Results for the year ended 31 March 2024
 
Braveheart Investment Group plc (AIM: BRH) announces  i ts  audited annual  results  for the financial  year ended 31 March
2024, highl ights  of which are set out below:
 

·    Loss  per share of 11.38 pence per share (2023: 2.68 pence earnings  per share)
·    Cash balance as  at 31 March 2024 of £1.74 mi l l ion (2023: £0.93 mi l l ion)
·    Pre-tax loss  of £8.19 mi l l ion (2023: profi t of £2.36 mi l l ion).

 
Notice of AGM
 
A copy of the annual  report and accounts , together with no4ce of the Company's  annual  general  mee4ng ("AGM") to be held
on 18 July 2024 at 10.30 am at the office of China Ventures  Ltd, Unit 2, Common Farm, Common Lane, Mappleborough
Green, Warwickshire, B80 7D P, wi l l  be posted to shareholders  shortly and avai lable on the Company's  website,
www.braveheartgroup.co.uk.
 
For further information:
 
Braveheart Investment Group plc Tel : 01738 587555
Trevor Brown, Chief Executive Officer
Viv Hal lam, Executive Director

Allenby Capital Limited (Nominated Adviser and Joint Broker) Tel : 020 3328 5656

James Reeve / George Payne

Peterhouse Capital Limited (Joint Broker) Tel : 020 7469 0936

Duncan Vasey / Lucy Wi l l iams
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT

Despite the chal lenging condi4ons in the economy and capital  markets , our strategy remains  unchanged: to invest

shareholder funds  in bus inesses  that we bel ieve possess  specific characteris4cs  capable of genera4ng excep4onal  returns

on disposal .

 

O n 15 May 2024, Braveheart announced that fol lowing a review of the value of Braveheart's  porCol io investments , a

decis ion had been made to write down the value of the Company's  equity investments  in Paraytec Limited ("Paraytec") (book

value at 31 March 2023: £3.04m) and K irkstal l  Limited ("K irkstal l") (book value at 31 March 2023: £1.67m) to zero in the

F Y2024 Accounts  and this  has  now been implemented fol lowing the comple4on of the audit. The Board bel ieves  that, with

4me, Paraytec and K irkstal l  could have the poten4al  to increase in value and thereby provide exit opportuni4es  for the

Company.

 

The Board has  a lso implemented a range of ac4ons to ra4onal ise the Company's  cost base and to conserve cash, which

stood at approximately £1.74 mi l l ion on 31 March 2024. These ac4ons include reducing opera4onal  overheads and

management costs  to reflect the changing needs of the bus iness .

 

Strategic Investments Overview
Phasefocus Holdings Limited (now exited)
O n 22 December 2023, Braveheart announced the sale of i ts  en4re shareholding in P hasefocus  Holdings  Limited to Bruker
UK  Limited, a  global  analy4cal  instrumenta4on company. The total  proceeds received by Braveheart on 31 March 2024 was
£2.1m. A further £53k was received on 27 Apri l  2024, fol lowing prepara4on of the Comple4on Accounts , which was a  £53k
increase on the figure provided in the announcement of 4 March 2024.
 
Paraytec Limited (Braveheart owns 100% per cent of the company)

http://www.braveheartgroup.co.uk


Paraytec Limited (Braveheart owns 100% per cent of the company)
Paraytec develops  high performance special is t detectors  for the analy4cal  and l i fe sciences  instrumenta4on markets .
During the period i t undertook a programme with the Univers i ty of Sheffield to develop rapid tests  ("C X 300") for iden4fying
pathogens, including vi ruses  and bacteria  that cause seps is . O n 2 May 2023, the C X 300 instrument passed independent
testing for CE marking, which certi fies  i ts  compl iance with required safety standards  for a  laboratory use instrument.
 
Paraytec con4nues to develop the C X 300 instrument to ass ist in the rapid diagnosis  and treatment of bacteraemia, the
presence of bacteria  in the blood, which is  found in most pa4ents  with seps is  and on 15 December 2023, the Company
announced that Paraytec had demonstrated proof-of-concept for the test, us ing i ts  CX300 instrument.
 
O n 4 March 2024, the Company announced that, having used an M&A special is t to market the company and seek a cash
buyer for Paraytec, Braveheart was  unable to secure an aKrac4ve offer from poten4al  acquirers , most of those interested
felt the bus iness  was  at "too early stage". The Board therefore decided to retain Paraytec within i ts  investment portfol io and
con4nue i ts  development of the sales  and marke4ng of the C X 300 instrument, with the aim of further enhancing the appeal
to a  potentia l  acquirer by offering i t for sale at a  later development stage.

 

The current C X 300 instrument performs excep4onal ly wel l  in detec4ng and coun4ng par4cles  label led with a  s ingle colour
fluorescent marker. Development is  now in progress  on the next genera4on instrument that wi l l  a l low two popula4ons of
di fferently coloured particles  to be compared in real  time. This  two-colour instrument wi l l  give Paraytec
access  to a  much bigger market, and customer feedback has  indicated that i t could be useful  for many biomedical  and
research appl ica4ons. Paraytec has  recently completed bui lding i ts  first two-colour instrument prototype, and tes4ng and
miniaturiza4on are now underway. I n response to user requests , Paraytec are a lso exploring adding further features , such
as  back-scatter l ight measurement to provide researchers  more detai l  about the particle s ize.

             
User tes4ng of the two-colour instrument at col labora4ng univers i4es  is  expected to commence in three months  and i t i s
hoped that marketing and sales  wi l l  commence thereafter.
 
Work con4nues on the development of a  patentable point-of-care test for bacteraemia that uses  C X 300 technology to
rapidly distinguish between gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. Us ing the same principle as  the original  Gram stain,
the test uses  a  gene4cal ly engineered fluorescent protein that binds  specifical ly to pep4doglycan present in gram-posi4ve
but not gram-negative bacteria.
 
W hi lst s ignificant progress  in product development and commercial isa4on has  been made in this  period, the technical
chal lenges  encountered delayed product launch. I ni4al  C X 300 instrument sales  have now been made, but the original  sa les
targets  have not been met. Fol lowing feedback from the M&A special is t, Braveheart has  now concluded that Paraytec
should restrict any s ignificant further investment in product development un4l  the C X 300 has  had 4me to establ ish i ts
performance credentia ls  with users  in the marketplace. 
 
O n 15 May 2024, Braveheart reported that the Board had concluded that Paraytec's  short-term prospects  have reduced and
it no longer bel ieves  that Braveheart's outstanding loans  to Paraytec (total l ing £1.44 mi l l ion as  at 31 March 2024), wi l l be
repaid in the short-term. A decis ion has  therefore been made to write down the value of the Company's equity investments
and loan receivable in Paraytec to zero.
 
Kirkstall Limited (Braveheart owns 86.11% of the company) 

Kirkstall operates in the market known as 'organ-on-a-chip', where it has developed Quasi Vivo®, a system of
chambers for cell and 4ssue culture in laboratories. Its patented technology is used by researchers in the
growing New Approach Methodologies ("NAMs"), which enable human-relevant drug safety decisions to be
made without the need for animal testing.

The work at Oxford University to develop blood-brain barrier assays for Kirkstall was successful. This work
provided data to show that the QV1200 system replicates the human physiology more effec4vely than non-
flow systems and these findings have been presented by Kirkstall at conferences.

Kirkstall received several enquiries for its contract research organisa4on (CRO) service, however aQer careful
assessment it was concluded the costs would exceed expected returns and so this project has been
concluded.

Kirkstall's QV1200 product is in use globally within university research teams and has gained much posi4ve
feedback. Kirkstall are collabora4ng with these researchers to generate published papers and thus grow
sales. Kirkstall is also in discussion with poten4al distributors who may be able to increase the volume of
sales over that achieved by direct sales from the Company. The aim of all this current ac4vity is to grow
revenue to make it more attractive to acquirers and allow Braveheart to attract a buyer for this business.

O n 15 May 2024 Braveheart reported that Kirkstal l  has  been unable to achieve certain sales  mi lestones  and discuss ions
with M&A advisers  and poten4al  acquirers  have not progressed. Braveheart has  concluded that i t should restrict further
investment in product development and focus  on growing sales  to bui ld a  user-base and community of prac4ce in the
research marketplace. Therefore, the Board no longer bel ieves  that Braveheart's  outstanding loans  to K irkstal l  (total l ing
£0.16 mi l l ion as  at 31 March 2024), wi l l  be repaid in the short-term. A decis ion has  therefore been made to write down the
value of the Company's  equity investments  and loan receivable in Kirkstal l  to zero.
 
The Board bel ieves that, with 4me, both K irkstal l  and Paraytec could have the poten4al  to increase in value and provide
exit opportunities  for the Company, but i t i s  prudent to write the values  down to zero at the current time.

 
Listed Investments



Listed Investments

At 31 March 2024, Braveheart held investments in the following AIM listed companies:

AukeK Swanke Group plc (Braveheart owned 8.98% of the company) a professional services group
that principally provides architectural, interior design and smart building services in the primary
interna4onal market sectors of offices, residen4al, educa4on, industrial, hospitality and mixed use or
'hybrid' developments. On 21 March 2024, Aukett Swanke announced its acquisition of RTS Technology
Solutions

Limited, so this architectural services group now includes subsidiaries that provide smart building
software sales and smart building system installation services.

Au4ns Group plc (Braveheart owned 23.96%) an industry-leading designer, manufacturer, and
supplier of acoustic and thermal insulation solutions for the automotive industry and other sectors. As
stated in our announcement of 6 March 2024, the growth of electric vehicle produc4on has created
new opportuni4es for Au4ns who now supply vehicle producers including: JLR, Nissan, BMW, Aston
Mar4n, Lotus, Lamborghini and Bentley; as well as Tier 1 automo4ve suppliers: Draxlmaier, Kasai,
Treves, Novares, Mergon and Yangfeng.

I mage Scan Group plc (Braveheart owned 4.48% of the company) a  specia l is t suppl ier of real -4me X-ray screening
systems to the securi ty and industria l  inspec4on markets . This  company recently announced the launch of AI
soQware to enhance threat recogni4on in i ts  X-ray scanning products . Also announcing, a  substan4al  order and
framework contract from an EU M O D customer, for i ts  portable X-ray system for mi l i tary and counter-terrorism
appl ications.

The Company also has several porColio investments that are smaller scale legacy investments for which we
continue to seek exits where appropriate.

Outlook

The Board wi l l  con4nue to work with Paraytec and K irkstal l  to help them make sales  and aKract buyers . I t wi l l  con4nue to
seek transforma4ve investments  in l ine with the inves4ng strategy, ra4onal ize costs  and conserve i ts  £1.74 mi l l ion cash
reserve as  of 31 March 2024. P roceeds from the P hase Focus  sale wi l l  be used to fund new investments , as  such the Board
is  not recommending a specia l  dividend.
 
 
 
Trevor Brown
Chief Executive Officer
 
 
Financial Review
During the year, we con4nued the comprehensive review of our cost base and con4nued to reduce the
central costs.
 
Income Statement
Fee-based revenue was generated by Braveheart I nvestment Group P lc. The principal  revenue from the Group's  opera4ons
comprises  investment management fees , with total  revenue during the year being £61,000 (2023: £51,000). F inance income
was £17,000 (2023: £21,000), this  being interest on outstanding loan notes  within the directly held portfol io.
 
As  at 31 March 2024, the total  number of directly held investments  in the porCol io of Strategic I nvestments  and the
PorCol io I nvestments  was  19 companies  (2023: 21).  The fa ir value of the directly held porCol io was  £1,653,000 (2023:
£9,458,000). During the year the group made investments  of £532,000 into three companies: Au4ns Group P lc, I mage Scan
Holdings  Plc and Phasefocus  Holdings  Limited.
 
The group sold i ts  shareholding in Phase Focus  Holdings  in the year, resulting in a  profi t on disposal  of £1,232,000.
Total  income for the year ended 31 March 2024, including real ised gains  and unreal ised revalua4on gains  and losses , was
a loss  of £2,257,000  (2023: £2,958,000 profi t) and impairments  of £4,847,000 (2023 £Ni l ).
 
The average number of employees  remained at four during the period under review. Employee benefits  expense was
£594,000 (2023: £556,000). Other operating and finance costs  decreased to £282,000 (2023: £283,000). 
 
The total  loss  aQer tax decreased to £7,249,000 (2023: £1,585,000 profit), equivalent to a  bas ic loss  per share of 11.38
pence (2023: 2.68 pence profi t).
 
Financial Position
The Group had net assets  of £3,397,000 as  at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: £10,520,000).
 
At the year end, the Group had cash balances  of £1,742,000 (2023: £935,000). There were no materia l  borrowings.
 
A summary analys is  of the Group's  performance is  as  fol lows:

2024 2023
£'000 £'000



Investment management revenue and sales 61 51
Finance income 17 21
Income before portfol io movements 78 72
Profi t on disposal  of investments 1,304 171
Change in fa i r value of investments , gain on disposal  of investments  and
movement in contingent l iabi l i ty (2,257) 2,958
Impairment of investments (4,847) -
Total  income of continuing activi ties (5,722) 3,201
Employee benefi ts  expense (including share- based payments) (594) (556)
Impairment of loans  in investment companies (1,595) -
Other operating and finance costs (282) (286)
Total  costs  on continuing activi ties (2,471) (842)
(Loss)/ profi t before tax - continuing (8,193) 2,359
Tax 944 (774)
Total  profi t and total  comprehensive profi t for the year (7,249) 1,585

 
Opening cash balance 935 1,853
Investment in portfol io companies (533) (1,529)
Proceeds from sale of equity investments 2,513 428
Funds raised - net of share issue costs - 930
Other activi ties (1,173) (747)
Clos ing cash balance 1,742 935

Net assets 3,397 10,520

 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
The KPIs we use to monitor business performance have been changed in order to beKer reflect the emphasis
that the Board has placed upon the development of the Strategic Investments as the best way to increase
shareholder value over the short and medium term. Given the nature of our business, these KPI's remain as,
primarily, financial measures.  They are:
 

2024 2023
Cash ('£000) 1,742 935
Share price (pence) 6.35 6.75
Income ('£000) 61 51
Value of investments 1,653 9,458

 
 

The value of investments has reduced significantly in the year mainly due to the sale of Phase Focus Holdings
(£2,502,000) and also the reduction in valuations of Kirkstall (£1,675,000) and Paraytec (£3,038,000).
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Through i ts  opera4ons the Group is  exposed to a  number of risks . The Group's  risk management objec4ves  and pol icies  are
described in the Corporate Governance Statement. Braveheart i s  ensuring that a l l  necessary steps  have been taken to
maintain the integri ty of the Company's  assets  and the health and wel l -being of our employees. 
 
Section 172 Statement
 
Sec4on 172 (1) of the Companies  Act obl iges  the Directors  to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of the
Company's  members  as  a  whole. This  sec4on specifies  that the Directors  must act in good fa i th when promo4ng the
success  of the Company and in doing so, have regard (amongst other things) to:
 
a . the l ikely consequences  of any decis ion in the long term,
b. the interests  of the Company's  employees,
c. the need to foster the Company's  bus iness  relationship with suppl iers , customers  and others ,
d. the impact of the Company's  operations  on the community and environment,
e. the des irabi l i ty of the Company maintaining a  reputation for high standards  of bus iness  conduct, and
f. the need to act fa i rly between members  of the Company.
 
The Board of Directors  i s  col lec4vely responsible for formula4ng the Company's  strategy, which is  to invest in bus inesses
where prospects  appear to be excep4onal  and del iver growth to i ts  shareholders . O f course, the Board cannot predict the
future but a ims to make decis ions  that i t cons iders  are in the best interest of a l l  shareholders  at the 4me. I n the period, the
decis ion to sel l  i ts  holding in P hasefocus  Holdings  Limited was such a decis ion, where the Board decided i t was  in the best
interest of Braveheart to accept the terms offered by the buyer, rather than con4nue to hold shares  with the l ikel ihood that
further investment in the bus iness  would be required.
 
The Board places  equal  importance on al l  shareholders  and strives  for transparent and effec4ve external  communica4ons,
within the regulatory confines of an AI M-l isted company. The primary communica4on tool  for regulatory maKers  and
maKers  of materia l  substance is  through the Regulatory News Service ("R NS"). The Company's  website is  a lso updated
regularly and provides  further detai ls  on the bus iness  as  wel l  as  l inks  to helpful  content such as  our latest investor
presentations.



 
O ur employees  are one of the primary assets  of our bus iness  and wi l l  be cri4cal  to the future success  of the Company. F i rst
and foremost, the Directors  strive to ensure a  safe working environment for a l l  i ts  s taff and contractors , and we are proud
of our safety achievements  in 2023/24. We also seek to reward employees  with remunera4on packages  which al ign the
interests  of the Company and i ts  shareholders  with those of the employees. Employees  are a lso provided with chal lenging
work and external  tra ining opportunities  to ensure their continual  development.
The Directors  bel ieve they have acted in the way they cons ider most l ikely to promote the success  of the Company for the
benefi t of i ts  members  as  a  whole, as  required by Section 172 (1) of the Companies  Act 2006.
 
 
On behalf of the Board
Trevor E Brown
Chief Executive Officer

20 June 2024
 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the year ended 31 March 2024

   
    

 2024 2023  
Note s £ £  

 
Re ve nue  from contra cts  wi th cus tome rs 3 60,896 50,902  
Cha nge  i n fa i r va l ue  of i nve s tme nts 10 (2,257,293) 2,957,665  
Impa i rme nt of i nve s tme nts 10 (4,847,349) -  
Profi t on di s pos a l  of i nve s tme nts 10 1,304,035 170,576  
Total income (5,739,711) 3,179,143  

   
Empl oye e  be ne fi ts  e xpe ns e 5 (594,234) (556,146)  
Othe r ope ra ti ng cos ts 7 (278,852) (283,356)  
Total operating costs  (873,086) (839,502)  

Impa i rme nt of l oa ns  i n i nve s tme nt compa ni e s 13 (1,594,620) -
Fi na nce  cos ts 6 (2,795) (2,154)  
Fi na nce  i ncome 4 16,896 21,003  
Total costs (2,453,605) (820,653)  
    
(Loss)/ profit before tax (8,193,316) 2,358,490  
    
Ta x 8 944,050 (773,652)  

 
(Loss)/ profit from continuing operations (7,249,266) 1,584,838  
    
    
Total (loss)/ profit and total comprehensive loss for the year (7,249,266) 1,584,838  
    
Profit attributable to:  
Equi ty hol de rs  of the  pa re nt (7,249,266) 1,584,838  

(7,249,266) 1,584,838  
 

Ea rni ngs  pe r s ha re Pence Pence  
- ba s i c 9 (11.38) 2.68  
- di l ute d 9 (11.38) 2.68  

 
The  a ccompa nyi ng a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a nd note s  form pa rt of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .
 
 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  as  at 31 March 2024 

    
  2024 2023
 Note s £ £
ASSETS    



Non-current assets  
Prope rty, pl a nt a nd e qui pme nt 12 108   418
Inve s tme nts  a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or
l os s        10

1,653,341 9,458,324

De btors  due  i n ove r one  ye a r 13 - 1,155,200
  1,653,449 10,613,942
    
Current assets    
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s 14 105,707 64,510
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts 15 1,742,315 934,861

1,848,022 999,371

Total assets 3,501,471 11,613,313

    
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities    
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 16 (104,145) (149,656)
 (104,145) (149,656)
 
Non-current liabilities  

  

De fe rre d ta xa ti on 17 - (944,050)
    
Total liabilities  (104,145) (1,093,706)

    
Net assets 3,397,326 10,519,607

   
EQUITY    
Ca l l e d up s ha re  ca pi ta l 18 1,274,469 1,274,469
Sha re  pre mi um re s e rve 18 5,370,711 5,370,711
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve 598,188 471,203
Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs (3,846,042) 3,403,224
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent  3,397,326 10,519,607
Total equity  3,397,326 10,519,607

 
The  a ccompa nyi ng a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a nd note s  form pa rt of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .             
 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS for the year ended 31 March 2024

    
    
  2024 2023
   £ £
Operating activities   
(Los s )/ profi t be fore  ta x (8,193,316) 2,358,490
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows
from operating activities
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt 126,985 219,223
Impa i rme nt of l oa ns  i n i nve s tme nt compa ni e s 1,594,620 -
De cre a s e / (i ncre a s e ) i n the  fa i r va l ue  move me nts  of
i nve s tme nts 2,257,293 (2,957,665)
Impa i rme nt of i nve s tme nts 4,847,349 -
Profi t on di s pos a l  of e qui ty i nve s tme nts (1,304,035) (170,576)
De pre ci a ti on a nd a morti s a ti on 310 378
Inte re s t i ncome (16,896) (21,003)
Incre a s e  i n tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s (44,015) (194,728)
De cre a s e  i n tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s (21,309) (2,305)
Cash flow used in operating activities  (753,014) (768,186)

Investing activities
Proce e ds  from s a l e  of i nve s tme nts 2,512,690 428,066
Purcha s e  of i nve s tme nts (532,516) (1,529,127)
Loa ns  to i nve s tme nts (436,602) -
Inte re s t re ce i ve d 16,896 21,003
Net cash flow used in investing activities  1,560,468 (1,080,058)

Financing activities
Funds  ra i s e d, ne t of s ha re  i s s ue  cos ts  - 930,363
Net cash flow from financing activities  - 930,363



Ne t i ncre a s e / (de cre a s e ) i n ca s h a nd ca s h
e qui va l e nts

807,454 (917,881)

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  a t the  be gi nni ng of the
ye a r

934,861 1,852,742

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  1,742,315 934,861

 
The  a ccompa nyi ng a ccounti ng pol i ci e s  a nd note s  form pa rt of the s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .
For non-ca s h move me nt i n i nve s ti ng a cti vi ti e s , s e e  note  10
 
  
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the year ended 31 March 2024

Called up
Share

Capital

Share
Premium
Reserve

Share
based

payment
Reserve

Retained
Earnings/

(Deficit) Total

 

Total Equity

GROUP £ £ £ £ £  £
At 1 April 2022 restated 1,044,807 4,371,343 309,835 1,760,531 7,486,516  7,486,516
Profit a nd tota l
compre he ns i ve  profi t for the
ye a r
Al l otme nt of s ha re s

-
229,662

-
1,034,118

-
-

1,584,838
-

1,584,838
1,263,780

1,584,838
1,263,780

Cos t of s ha re s  i s s ue d - (34,750) - - (34,750) (34,750)
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts - - 219,223 - 219,223 219,223
Tra ns fe r to re ta i ne d
e a rni ngs  - s urre nde r of
opti ons - - (57,855) 57,855 - -
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in
equity 229,662 999,368 161,368 1,642,693 3,033,091 3,033,091
At 31 March 2023 1,274,469 5,370,711 471,203 3,403,224 10,519,607  10,519,607

Profit a nd tota l
compre he ns i ve  profi t for the
ye a r

-
 

-
 

-
 

(7,249,266)
 

(7,249,266)
 

(7,249,266)
 

Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts - - 126,985 - 126,985 126,985
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in
equity - - 126,985 (7,249,266) (7,122,281) (7,122,281)
At 31 March 2024 1,274,469 5,370,711 598,188 (3,846,042) 3,397,326  3,397,326

Sha re  ca pi ta l  i s  the  numbe r of s ha re s  i s s ue d i n the  compa ny a t the i r nomi na l  va l ue . The  s ha re  pre mi um a ccount re pre s e nts  the  gros s  proce e ds
from i s s ue  of s ha re s , l e s s  the i r nomi na l  va l ue . Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve  i s  the  a mount ge ne ra te d from the  a wa rd of s ha re  op4ons  a nd
wa rra n4e s . Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs  i s  the  cumul a 4ve  ne t ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re cogni s e d i n the  cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  ne t of
a s s oci a te d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nts  cre di ts .
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2024

 

1 Corporate information
The  Group a nd Compa ny fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  of Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c (the  Compa ny) for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2024 we re
a uthori s e d for i s s ue  by the  Boa rd of Di re ctors  on 20 June  2024 a nd the  s ta te me nts  of fina nci a l  pos i 4on we re  s i gne d on the  Boa rd's  be ha l f by
Tre vor Brown.
Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c i s  a  publ i c compa ny i ncorpora te d i n the  Uni te d Ki ngdom unde r the  Compa ni e s  Act 2006 l i mi te d by s ha re s .  The
a ddre s s  of the  re gi s te re d office  i s  de ta i l e d a t the  ba ck of thi s  re port.  The  na ture  of the  Group's  ope ra 4ons  a nd i ts  pri nci pa l  a c4vi 4e s  a re  s e t out
i n the  Stra te gi c Re port a nd Di re ctors ' Re port.  The  Compa ny i s  re gi s te re d i n Scotl a nd.  The  Compa ny's  ordi na ry s ha re s  a re  tra de d on the  AIM ma rke t
of the  London Stock Excha nge .
 
2 Accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The  Group a nd Compa ny fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  ha ve  be e n pre pa re d i n a ccorda nce  wi th UK-a dopte d i nte rna 4ona l  a ccoun4ng s ta nda rds  i n
a ccorda nce  wi th the  re qui re me nts  of the  Compa ni e s  Act 2006 a nd i n a ccorda nce  wi th the  re qui re me nts  of the  AIM rul e s . The  pri nci pa l  a ccoun4ng
pol i ci e s  a dopte d by the  Group a nd by the  Compa ny a re  s e t out i n the  fol l owi ng note s .
The  cons ol i da te d fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  ha ve  be e n pre pa re d on a  hi s tori ca l  cos t ba s i s , e xce pt for fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  tha t a re  me a s ure d a t the
fa i r va l ue s  a t the  e nd of the  re por4ng pe ri od. The  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  a re  pre s e nte d i n s te rl i ng a nd a l l  va l ue s  a re  rounde d to the  ne a re s t pound
(£), whi ch i s  a l s o the  functi ona l  curre ncy of the  compa ny a nd i ts  s ubs i di a ri e s , e xce pt whe re  othe rwi s e  i ndi ca te d.
The  Group's  bus i ne s s  a c4vi 4e s  (toge the r wi th the  fa ctors  l i ke l y to a ffe ct i ts  future  de ve l opme nt, pe rforma nce  a nd pos i 4on) a nd i ts  fina nci a l
pos i 4on i s  s e t out i n the  Chi e f Exe cu4ve  Office r's  Re port.  The  Group's  ri s k ma na ge me nt obje c4ve s  a nd pol i ci e s  a re  de s cri be d i n the  Corpora te
Gove rna nce  Sta te me nt. Furthe r i nforma 4on re ga rdi ng the  Group's  fina nci a l  ri s k ma na ge me nt obje c4ve s  a nd pol i ci e s , i ncl udi ng thos e  i n re l a 4on
to cre di t ri s k, l i qui di ty ri s k a nd ma rke t ri s k, i s  provi de d i n note  21 to the  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts .  The  Group's  ca pi ta l  ma na ge me nt obje c4ve s  a re
s ta te d on pa ge  46, note  (n).
 
(b) Investment policy
 

The  Group's  s tra te gy i s  to i nve s t i n e a rl y a nd l a te r-s ta ge  bus i ne s s e s , pri ma ri l y i n the  te chnol ogy s e ctor, but i t wi l l  a l s o cons i de r opportuni 4e s  i n

othe r s e ctors  tha t a re  knowl e dge  i nte ns i ve , s uch a s  he a l thca re  a nd profe s s i ona l  s e rvi ce s .

The  Group wi l l  ta rge t i nve s tme nts  i n both unl i s te d a nd l i s te d compa ni e s , whe re  the re  i s  pote n4a l  for s i gni fica nt growth. Inve s tme nts  a re

e xpe cte d to be  ma i nl y i n the  form of e qui ty a nd e qui ty-re l a te d i ns trume nts , i ncl udi ng conve rti bl e  de bt i ns trume nts  i n ce rta i n ci rcums ta nce s .

 The  Group ma y a cqui re  i nve s tme nts  di re ctl y or by wa y of hol di ngs  i n i nte rme di a te  hol di ng or s ubs i di a ry e n44e s . The  Group mi ght a l s o i nve s t i n

l i mi te d l i a bi l i ty pa rtne rs hi ps  a nd othe r forms  of l e ga l  e n4ty. Whe re  pos s i bl e , the  Group wi l l  s e e k i nve s tor prote c4on ri ghts , a s  de te rmi ne d by the



l i mi te d l i a bi l i ty pa rtne rs hi ps  a nd othe r forms  of l e ga l  e n4ty. Whe re  pos s i bl e , the  Group wi l l  s e e k i nve s tor prote c4on ri ghts , a s  de te rmi ne d by the

Boa rd. The  Group ma y offe r i ts  Ordi na ry Sha re s  i n e xcha nge  for s ha re s  i n i nve s te e  bus i ne s s e s  i n a ddi 4on to a  ca s h i nve s tme nt i n s uch

bus i ne s s e s . 

For unl i s te d compa ny i nve s tme nts , the  Group ta rge ts  compa ni e s  a t di ffe re nt s ta ge s  of de ve l opme nt, ra ngi ng from thos e  whi ch a re  jus t s ta r4ng to

tra de  to thos e  whi ch a re  e xpe c4ng to a chi e ve  a n IPO i n the  s hort te rm, thus  provi di ng porCol i o di ve rs i fica 4on. The s e  i nve s tme nts  wi l l  typi ca l l y

i nvol ve  a cti ve  i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt.

The  Group, whe re  a ppropri a te  a nd de e me d by the  Boa rd to be  i n the  Group's  be s t i nte re s ts , ma y s e e k a  pos i 4on on the  boa rds  of unl i s te d

i nve s te e  compa ni e s . The  Group whe re  a ppropri a te , wi l l  a s s i s t the  boa rd a nd ma na ge me nt of i nve s te e  compa ni e s , i ncl udi ng he l pi ng to s ca l e

ma na ge me nt te a ms , i nformi ng s tra te gy a nd a s s i s ti ng wi th future  fina nci ng. 

For l i s te d compa ny i nve s tme nts , the  Group ta rge ts  i nve s tme nts  whe re  the  Boa rd cons i de rs  the  s ha re s  a re  unde rva l ue d but the re  a re

opportuni 4e s  for s i gni fica nt growth. The s e  i nve s tme nts  wi l l  typi ca l l y i nvol ve  pa s s i ve  i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt, a l though the  Boa rd ma y ta ke  a

more  a cti ve  a pproa ch i f i t cons i de rs  the re  i s  a  ne e d to e ffe ct cha nge .

Bra ve he a rt ma y occa s i ona l l y i nve s t i n compa ni e s  tha t a re  i n re s cue  or di s tre s s  s i tua ti ons  whe re  a  va l ue -cre a ti ng opportuni ty ha s  be e n i de nti fi e d.

The  Group doe s  not ha ve  a ny ma xi mum e xpos ure  l i mi ts  but wi l l  ge ne ra l l y ta ke  a  mi nori ty s ta ke  i n a  bus i ne s s  a nd l ook for i nve s tme nts  whe re
the re  i s  a  good pros pe ct of a n e xi t i n a  two-to-five -ye a r 4me  pe ri od. As  ri s k re duce s , the  Group ma y i ncre a s e  i ts  i nve s tme nt i n s ubs e que nt rounds
of fundi ng a nd, a s  thos e  bus i ne s s e s  grow, ma y find i ts e l f hol di ng a  control l i ng i nte re s t i n s ome  tra di ng compa ni e s . Howe ve r, i n s uch i ns ta nce s
the  Boa rd wi l l  e ns ure  tha t the re  i s  s uffici e nt s e pa ra 4on be twe e n the  Group a nd the  i nve s te e  compa ny s o tha t the  i nve s te e  compa ny doe s  not
be come  a  tra di ng compa ny of the  Group.
 
(c) Going Concern
The  di re ctors  ha ve  re vi e we d the  Group's  a nd the  Compa ny's  budge ts  a nd pl a ns , ta ki ng a ccount of re a s ona bl y pos s i bl e  cha nge s  i n tra di ng
pe rforma nce  a nd ha ve  a  re a s ona bl e  e xpe cta 4on tha t the  Group a nd the  Compa ny ha ve  a de qua te  re s ource s  to con4nue  i n ope ra 4ona l  e xi s te nce
for the  fore s e e a bl e  future  a nd tha t i t i s  the re fore  a ppropri a te  to conti nue  to a dopt the  goi ng conce rn ba s i s  i n pre pa ri ng the  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts .
 
Fol l owi ng the  s a l e  of Pha s e  Focus  Hol di ngs , the  group curre ntl y ha ve  l a rge  ba nk ba l a nce s  a nd unde rta ke  re gul a r re vi e ws  of the  ca s h flows  of the
compa ny. Furthe rmore , the  group ha ve  a  l a rge  numbe r of l i s te d i nve s tme nts  tha t coul d be  conve rte d to ca s h i f re qui re d. The  group fore ca s t a t
l e a s t 12 months  i nto the  future  a t a l l  ti me s  i n orde r to e ns ure  tha t the  compa ny ca n conti nue  i nto the  fore s e e a bl e  future .
 
(d) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The re  a re  no ne w s ta nda rds  whi ch be ca me  e ffe cti ve  i n the  ye a r whi ch ha d a  ma te ri a l  i mpa ct on the  group.

 
(e) New standards and interpretations not yet effective
The  Group ha s  a dopte d a l l  re cogni 4on, me a s ure me nt a nd di s cl os ure  re qui re me nts  of IFRS, i ncl udi ng a ny ne w a nd re vi s e d s ta nda rds  a nd
i nte rpre ta 4ons  of IFRS, i n e ffe ct for a nnua l  pe ri ods  comme nci ng on or a Qe r 1 Apri l  2023. The  a dop4on of the s e  s ta nda rds  a nd a me ndme nts  di d
not ha ve  a ny ma te ri a l  i mpa ct on the  fi na nci a l  re s ul t of pos i ti on i n the  Group.
 
At the  da te  of a uthori s a 4on of the s e  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts , the  fol l owi ng Sta nda rds  a nd Inte rpre ta 4on, whi ch ha ve  not ye t be e n a ppl i e d i n the s e
fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts , we re  i n i s s ue , but not ye t e ffe cti ve :
 
New Standards Effective Date
IAS 1 Amendments - Presentation and Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non current 1 January 2024
IAS 1 Amendments - Non-current liabilities with covenants 1 January 2024
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: - Supplier Finance
Arrangements

1 January 2024

 
 
(f) Basis of consolidation
The  Group's  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  cons ol i da te  the  re s ul ts  of Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c a nd i ts  s ubs i di a ri e s  (toge the r re fe rre d to a s  the
'Group') dra wn up to 31 Ma rch e a ch ye a r.  The  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  of the  s ubs i di a ri e s  us e d i n the  pre pa ra 4on of the  cons ol i da te d fina nci a l
s ta te me nts  a re  pre pa re d for the  s a me  re por4ng ye a r a s  the  pa re nt compa ny us i ng cons i s te nt a ccoun4ng pol i ci e s .  Al l  i ntra -group ba l a nce s ,
tra ns a c4ons , i ncome  a nd e xpe ns e s  a re  e l i mi na te d i n ful l  on cons ol i da 4on. The  Compa ny i s  cl a s s i fie d a s  a n i nve s tme nt e n4ty a s  i t me e ts  the
de fi ni ti on of a n i nve s tme nt e nti ty wi thi n Pa ra gra ph 27 IFRS 10.

-      Subsidiaries
The  s ubs i di a ri e s  ha ve  be e n cons ol i da te d from the  da te  of the i r a cqui s i 4on, be i ng the  da te  on whi ch the  Group obta i ne d control , a nd wi l l
con4nue  to be  cons ol i da te d un4l  the  da te  tha t s uch control  ce a s e s . As  pe r IFRS 10, a n e n4ty i s  cl a s s e d a s  unde r the  control  of the  Group whe n a l l
thre e  of the  fol l owi ng e l e me nts  a re  pre s e nt: powe r ove r the  e n4ty, e xpos ure  to va ri a bl e  re turns  from the  e n4ty a nd the  a bi l i ty of the  Group to us e
i ts  powe r to a ffe ct thos e  va ri a bl e  re turns . Control  i s  re a s s e s s e d whe ne ve r fa cts  a nd ci rcums ta nce s  i ndi ca te  tha t the re  ma y be  a  cha nge  i n a ny of
the s e  e l e me nts  of control .
A cha nge  i n the  owne rs hi p i nte re s t of a  s ubs i di a ry, wi thout a  l os s  of control , i s  a ccounte d for a s  a n e qui ty tra ns a cti on.
The  group a ppl i e s  the  a cqui s i 4on me thod to a ccount for bus i ne s s  combi na 4ons . The  cons i de ra 4on tra ns fe rre d for the  a cqui s i 4on of a  s ubs i di a ry
i s  the  fa i r va l ue s  of the  a s s e ts  tra ns fe rre d, the  l i a bi l i 4e s  i ncurre d to the  forme r owne rs  of the  a cqui re e  a nd the  e qui ty i nte re s ts  i s s ue d by the
group. The  cons i de ra 4on tra ns fe rre d i ncl ude s  the  fa i r va l ue  of a ny a s s e t or l i a bi l i ty re s ul 4ng from a  con4nge nt cons i de ra 4on a rra nge me nt.
Ide n4fia bl e  a s s e ts  a cqui re d a nd l i a bi l i 4e s  a nd con4nge nt l i a bi l i 4e s  a s s ume d i n a  bus i ne s s  combi na 4on a re  me a s ure d i ni 4a l l y a t the i r fa i r
va l ue s  a t the  a cqui s i 4on da te . The  group re cogni s e s  a ny non-control l i ng i nte re s t i n the  a cqui re e  on a n a cqui s i 4on-by-a cqui s i 4on ba s i s , e i the r a t
fa i r va l ue  or a t the  non-control l i ng i nte re s t's  proporti ona te  s ha re  of the  re cogni s e d a mounts  of a cqui re e 's  i de nti fi a bl e  ne t a s s e ts .
Acqui s i ti on-re l a te d cos ts  a re  e xpe ns e d a s  i ncurre d.
If the  bus i ne s s  combi na 4on i s  a chi e ve d i n s ta ge s , the  a cqui s i 4on da te  ca rryi ng va l ue  of the  a cqui re r's  pre vi ous l y he l d e qui ty i nte re s t i n the
a cqui re e  i s  re -me a s ure d to fa i r va l ue  a t the  a cqui s i 4on da te ; a ny ga i ns  or l os s e s  a ri s i ng from s uch re -me a s ure me nt a re  re cogni s e d i n profit or
l os s .
If the  Group l os e s  control  ove r a  s ubs i di a ry, i t de re cogni s e s  the  re l a te d a s s e ts , l i a bi l i 4e s , non-control l i ng i nte re s t a nd a ny othe r compone nts  of
e qui ty whi l e  a ny re s ul ta nt ga i n or l os s  i s  re cogni s e d i n profi t or l os s . Any i nve s tme nt re ta i ne d i s  re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue .
The  Group i s  ma de  up of s e ve ra l  di ffe re nt type s  of s ubs i di a ri e s . The  Group a s s e s s e s  the  func4on pe rforme d by e a ch type  of s ubs i di a ry to
de te rmi ne  i ts  tre a tme nt unde r the  IFRS 10 e xce p4on from cons ol i da 4on. The  type s  of s ubs i di a ri e s  a nd the i r tre a tme nt unde r IFRS 10 a re  a s
fol l ows :

·    Inve s tme nt ma na ge rs  - Cons ol i da te d                 
The s e  e n44e s  provi de  i nve s tme nt re l a te d s e rvi ce s  through the  provi s i on of i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt or a dvi ce . The y do not hol d a ny
di re ct i nve s tme nts  i n portfol i o a s s e ts . The s e  e nti ti e s  a re  not i nve s tme nt e nti ti e s .

·      Ge ne ra l  Pa rtne rs  (GPs ) - Cons ol i da te d



Ge ne ra l  Pa rtne rs  provi de  i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt s e rvi ce s  a nd do not hol d a ny di re ct i nve s tme nts  i n porCol i o a s s e ts . The s e  e n44e s  a re
not i nve s tme nt e nti ti e s .

Non-control l i ng i nte re s ts  re pre s e nt the  por4on of profit or l os s  a nd ne t a s s e ts  tha t i s  not he l d by the  Group a nd a re  pre s e nte d s e pa ra te l y i n the
cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  a nd wi thi n e qui ty i n the  cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of fina nci a l  pos i 4on s e pa ra te l y from pa re nt
s ha re hol de rs ' e qui ty.
 
(g) Use of estimates and assumptions
The  pre pa ra 4on of the  fina nci a l  s ta te me nts  i n conformi ty wi th IFRS re qui re s  ma na ge me nt to ma ke  judge me nts , e s 4ma te s  a nd a s s ump4ons  tha t
a ffe ct the  a ppl i ca 4on of pol i ci e s  a nd re porte d a mounts  of a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i 4e s , i ncome  a nd e xpe ns e s .  The  e s 4ma te s  a nd a s s oci a te d
a s s ump4ons  a re  ba s e d on hi s tori ca l  e xpe ri e nce  a nd othe r fa ctors  tha t a re  be l i e ve d to be  re a s ona bl e  unde r the  ci rcums ta nce s , the  re s ul ts  of
whi ch form the  ba s i s  of ma ki ng the  judge me nts  a bout ca rryi ng va l ue s  of a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i 4e s  tha t a re  not re a di l y a ppa re nt from othe r s ource s . 
Actua l  re s ul ts  ma y di ffe r from the s e  e s 4ma te s .  Whe re  ma na ge me nt's  judge me nt ha s  be e n a ppl i e d, thi s  i s  note d i n the  re l e va nt a ccoun4ng
pol i cy.
The  ke y a s s ump4ons  conce rni ng the  future  a nd othe r ke y s ource s  of e s 4ma 4on unce rta i nty a t the  re por4ng da te  tha t ha ve  a  s i gni fica nt ri s k of
ca us i ng a  ma te ri a l  a djus tme nt to the  ca rryi ng a mounts  of a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i ti e s  wi thi n the  ne xt fi na nci a l  ye a r a re  di s cus s e d be l ow:

-      Assessment as an investment entity
En44e s  tha t me e t the  de fini 4on of a n i nve s tme nt e n4ty wi thi n IFRS 10 a re  re qui re d to a ccount for mos t i nve s tme nts  i n control l e d e n44e s  a t fa i r
va l ue  through profit a nd l os s .  The  Boa rd ha s  concl ude d tha t the  Compa ny con4nue s  to me e t the  de fini 4on of a n i nve s tme nt e n4ty a s  i ts  s tra te gi c
obje c4ve  of i nve s 4ng i n porCol i o i nve s tme nts  a nd provi di ng i nve s tme nt ma na ge me nt s e rvi ce s  to i nve s tors  for the  purpos e  of ge ne ra 4ng re turns
i n the  form of i nve s tme nt i ncome  a nd ca pi ta l  a ppre ci a ti on re ma i ns  uncha nge d.
The  Group i s  re qui re d to de te rmi ne  the  de gre e  of control  or i nflue nce  the  Group e xe rci s e s  a nd the  form of a ny control  to e ns ure  tha t the  fina nci a l
tre a tme nt i s  a ccura te .
 

-      Impairment of investments and loan receivable from investee companies  - see note 10
Ma na ge me nt a s s e s s me nt of the  i mpa i rme nt i ndi ca tors  i ncl udi ng; pe rforma nce  of the  i nve s te e  compa ni e s , future  pros pe cts , a bi l i ty to e xi t a nd
ba s e d on tha t de ci de d to i mpa i r i nve s tme nts  i n Ki rks ta l l  (2023: £1,675,000), Pa ra yte c (2023: £3,038,000), KDS Archi te cture  (2023: £76,000), Ni  Te ch
(2023: £48,000), a nd Zi l i co (2023: £10,000) to £Ni l .

-      Fair value of unquoted investments - see note 10
Unquote d i nve s tme nts  ha ve  be e n va l ue d by the  di re ctors  i n compl i a nce  wi th the  pri nci pl e s  of the  Inte rna 4ona l  Pri va te  Equi ty a nd Ve nture  Ca pi ta l
Gui de l i ne s  a s  e ndors e d by the  Europe a n Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  As s oci a 4on (EVCA).  The  us e  of s uch va l ua 4on te chni que s  re qui re s  the  di re ctors  to ma ke
ce rta i n judge me nts  i ncl udi ng ma ki ng a s s e s s me nts  of future  re ve nue  a nd e a rni ngs  of porCol i o compa ni e s , a ppropri a te  mul 4pl e s  to a ppl y, a nd
ma rke ta bi l i ty a nd othe r ri s k di s counts  a nd provi s i ons , a nd he nce  the y a re  s ubje ct to unce rta i nty. Ma na ge me nt be l i e ve s  tha t i n the i r e xpe ri e nce ,
the  l a s t round s ha re  pri ce  te nds  to be  the  mos t re l i a bl e  me thod of ca l cul a 4ng the s e  i nve s tme nts , unl e s s  the re  i s  a  ma jor cha nge  to the  compa ny
s i nce  tha t poi nt a s  the re  i s  a  prove n ba s i s  for the  s ha re  pri ce . The  fa i r va l ue  of unquote d i nve s tme nts  of the  Group a t 31 Ma rch 2024 wa s  £39,246
(2023: £2,574,938) a nd of the  Pa re nt Compa ny wa s  £39,228 (2023: £2,574,567). The  va l ue  of i nve s tme nts  ha s  re duce d s i gni fica ntl y i n the  ye a r ma i nl y
due  to the  s a l e  of Pha s e  Focus  Hol di ngs  (£2,502,000).
To re fle ct the  pote n4a l  i mpa ct of a l te rna 4ve  a s s ump4ons  a nd a  l a ck of l i qui di ty i n the s e  hol di ngs , a  di s count ha s  be e n a ppl i e d to a l l  Le ve l  3
va l ua ti ons . Furthe r i nforma ti on re ga rdi ng the  Group's  a nd Pa re nt Compa ny's  fa i r va l ue  of unquote d i nve s tme nts  i s  provi de d i n note  10

-     Share-based payments
The  Group me a s ure s  the  cos t of e qui ty-s e Kl e d tra ns a c4ons  by re fe re nce  to the  fa i r va l ue  of the  e qui ty i ns trume nts  a t the  da te  a t whi ch the y we re
gra nte d.  Judge me nt i s  re qui re d i n de te rmi ni ng the  mos t a ppropri a te  va l ua 4on mode l  for a  gra nt of e qui ty i ns trume nts  de pe ndi ng on the  te rms
a nd condi 4ons  of the  gra nt.  Ma na ge me nt a re  a l s o re qui re d to us e  ce rta i n a s s ump4ons  i n de te rmi ni ng the  mos t a ppropri a te  i nputs  to the
va l ua 4on mode l  i ncl udi ng e xpe cte d l i fe  of the  op4on, vol a 4l i ty, ri s k fre e  ra te  a nd di vi de nd yi e l d.  The  a s s ump4ons  a nd mode l s  us e d a re  ful l y
di s cl os e d i n note  19.
 
(h)  Revenue recognition and segmental reporting
The  Group e a rns  fe e  i ncome  from the  s e rvi ce s  i t provi de s  to i ts  cl i e nts  a nd moni tori ng fe e s  from i nve s te e  compa ni e s . Re ve nue  i s  re cogni s e d a t
the  fa i r va l ue  of the  cons i de ra 4on re ce i ve d or re ce i va bl e , e xcl udi ng re ba te s . Fe e s  e a rne d for the  provi s i on of a n ongoi ng s e rvi ce  a re  re cogni s e d
a s  tha t s e rvi ce  i s  provi de d. De a l  fe e s  a nd a rra nge me nt fe e s  a re  e a rne d on i ndi vi dua l  tra ns a c4ons  a nd re l a te d re ve nue  i s  re cogni s e d on
compl e ti on

 

of the  unde rl yi ng tra ns a cti on.  The  Group re ce i ve s  compe ns a ti on for i ts  rol e  a s  fund ma na ge r; the s e  fund ma na ge me nt fe e s  i ncl ude  fi xe d fe e s
a nd pe rforma nce  fe e s  a nd a re  re cogni s e d a s  the  re l a te d s e rvi ce s  a re  provi de d. Moni tori ng fe e s  a re  re cogni s e d a s  tha t s e rvi ce  i s  provi de d.
Inte re s t i ncome  i s  re cogni s e d us i ng the  e ffe c4ve  i nte re s t me thod. Inte re s t i ncome  i s  i nte re s t e a rne d on ba nk de pos i t a ccounts  a nd l oa n note s
a nd i s  i ncl ude d wi thi n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome .
 
Re ve nue  i s  de fe rre d whe n i t doe s  not me e t the  re ve nue  re cogni 4on pol i cy a nd i s  pre s e nte d a s  de fe rre d i ncome  i n the  s ta te me nt of fina nci a l
pos i ti on.
An ope ra 4ng s e gme nt i s  a  compone nt of the  Group tha t e nga ge s  i n bus i ne s s  a c4vi ty from whi ch i t ma y e a rn re ve nue s  a nd i ncur e xpe ns e s ,
i ncl udi ng re ve nue s  a nd e xpe ns e s  tha t re l a te  to tra ns a cti ons  wi th a nd of the  Group's  othe r compone nts . Al l  ope ra ti ng s e gme nts ' ope ra ti ng re s ul ts ,
for whi ch di s cre te  fina nci a l  i nforma 4on i s  a va i l a bl e , a re  re vi e we d re gul a rl y by the  Group's  Boa rd to ma ke  de ci s i ons  a bout re s ource s  to be
a l l oca te d to the  s e gme nt a nd a s s e s s  i ts  pe rforma nce .
(i) Taxation                                                                                                                                                                               
The  ta x e xpe ns e  re pre s e nts  the  s um of the  ta x curre ntl y pa ya bl e .  Curre nt ta x i s  ba s e d on ta xa bl e  profit for the  ye a r. Ta xa bl e  profit di ffe rs  from ne t
profit a s  re porte d i n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  be ca us e  i t e xcl ude s  i te ms  of i ncome  or e xpe ns e s  tha t a re  de duc4bl e  i n othe r ye a rs
a nd i t furthe r e xcl ude s  i te ms  tha t a re  ne ve r ta xa bl e  or de duc4bl e .  The  Group's  l i a bi l i ty for curre nt ta x i s  ca l cul a te d us i ng ta x ra te s  tha t ha ve  be e n
e na cte d or s ubs ta nti ve l y e na cte d by the  re porti ng da te .
A de fe rre d ta x a s s e t or l i a bi l i ty s ha l l  be  re cogni s e d for a l l  ta xa bl e  te mpora ry di ffe re nce s , e xce pt to the  e xte nt tha t the  de fe rre d ta x a s s e t or
l i a bi l i ty a ri s e s  from (a ) the  i ni 4a l  re cogni 4on of goodwi l l , (b) the  i ni 4a l  re cogni 4on of a n a s s e t or l i a bi l i ty i n a  tra ns a c4on whi ch (i ) i s  not a
bus i ne s s
combi na 4on a nd (i i ) a t the  4me  of the  tra ns a c4on, a ffe cts  ne i the r a ccoun4ng profit/(l os s ) nor ta xa bl e  profit/(l os s ) or (c) re l a te s  to a n i nve s tme nt
i n s ubs i di a ry, e xce pt to the  e xte nt tha t (i ) the  pa re nt i s  a bl e  to control  ti mi ng of re ve rs a l  a nd (i i ) i t i s  proba bl e  tha t te mpora ry di ffe re nce s  wi l l  not
re ve rs e  i n the  fore s e e a bl e  future .  De fe rre d ta x a s s e ts  a re  re cogni s e d to the  e xte nt tha t i t i s  proba bl e  tha t ta xa bl e  profits  wi l l  be  a va i l a bl e
a ga i ns t whi ch de duc4bl e  te mpora ry di ffe re nce s  ca n be  u4l i s e d.  De fe rre d ta x i s  ca l cul a te d a t the  ta x ra te s  tha t a re  e xpe cte d to a ppl y i n the
pe ri od whe n the  l i a bi l i ty i s  s e Kl e d or the  a s s e t i s  re a l i s e d us i ng ta x ra te s  a nd l a ws  tha t ha ve  be e n e na cte d or s ubs ta n4ve l y e na cte d by the
re porti ng da te .
(j) Tangible assets
Ta ngi bl e  fi xe d a s s e ts  a re  s ta te d a t cos t l e s s  de pre ci a ti on a nd a ny provi s i on for i mpa i rme nt.

De pre ci a 4on i s  ca l cul a te d us i ng the  s tra i ght-l i ne  me thod to a l l oca te  the i r cos t or re va l ue d a mounts , ne t of the i r re s i dua l  va l ue s , ove r the i r

e s ti ma te d us e ful  l i ve s  a s  fol l ows :

 

Furni ture , fi tti ngs  a nd offi ce  e qui pme nt                   ove r thre e  ye a rs

 
(k) Financial assets
Fi na nci a l  a s s e ts  a re  re cogni s e d whe n the  Group be come s  pa rty to the  contra cts  tha t gi ve  ri s e  to the m a nd a re  cl a s s i fie d a t i ni 4a l  re cogni 4on a s



Fi na nci a l  a s s e ts  a re  re cogni s e d whe n the  Group be come s  pa rty to the  contra cts  tha t gi ve  ri s e  to the m a nd a re  cl a s s i fie d a t i ni 4a l  re cogni 4on a s
e i the r fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s  or l oa ns  a nd re ce i va bl e s . Fi na nci a l  a s s e ts  a re  de re cogni s e d whe n the  ri ghts  to re ce i ve
ca s h fl ows  from the  a s s e t ha ve  e xpi re d or the  Group ha s  tra ns fe rre d s ubs ta nti a l l y a l l  the  ri s ks  a nd re wa rds  of the  a s s e t.

-      Impairments       
Inve s tme nts  a re  te s te d for i ndi ca tors  of i mpa i rme nt on a  re gul a r ba s i s . Whe re  a n i nve s tme nt ha s  be e n de e me d to be  i mpa i re d, tha t a s s e t i s
wri tte n down a ccordi ngl y.

-      Investments at fair value through profit or loss         
Inve s tme nts , whi ch i s  ma de  up of e qui ty i nve s tme nts , a re  de s i gna te d on i ni 4a l  re cogni 4on a s  fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s .
Thi s  me a s ure me nt ba s i s  i s  cons i s te nt wi th the  fa ct tha t the  Group's  pe rforma nce  i n re s pe ct of i ts  porCol i o i nve s tme nts  i s  e va l ua te d on a  fa i r
va l ue  ba s i s  i n a ccorda nce  wi th a n e s ta bl i s he d i nve s tme nt s tra te gy. Whe n i nve s tme nts  a re  re cogni s e d i ni ti a l l y, the y a re  me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue .
AQe r i ni 4a l  re cogni 4on the  fa i r va l ue  of l i s te d i nve s tme nts  i s  de te rmi ne d by re fe re nce  to bi d pri ce s  a t the  cl os e  of bus i ne s s  on the  re por4ng
da te .
 
Unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts  a re  me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue  by the  di re ctors  i n compl i a nce  wi th the  pri nci pl e s  of the  Inte rna 4ona l  Pri va te  Equi ty a nd
Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  Gui de l i ne s , upda te d a nd e ffe c4ve  De ce mbe r 2015, a s  re comme nde d by the  Europe a n Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  As s oci a 4on. The  fa i r va l ue
of unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts  i s  de te rmi ne d us i ng the  mos t a ppropri a te  of the  va l ua ti on me thodol ogi e s  s e t out i n the  gui de l i ne s . The s e  i ncl ude
 
 
us i ng re ce nt a rm's  l e ngth ma rke t tra ns a c4ons ; re fe re nce  to the  curre nt ma rke t va l ue  of a nothe r i ns trume nt, whi ch i s  s ubs ta n4a l l y the  s a me ;
e a rni ngs  or profi t mul ti pl e s ; i ndi ca ti ve  offe rs ; di s counte d ca s h fl ow a na l ys i s  a nd pri ci ng mode l s .
Whe re ve r pos s i bl e  the  Group us e s  va l ua 4on te chni que s  whi ch ma ke  ma xi mum us e  of obs e rva bl e  ma rke t ba s e d i nputs  a nd a ccordi ngl y the  ba s i s
of the  va l ua 4on me thodol ogy pre fe rre d by the  Group i s  'pri ce  of mos t re ce nt i nve s tme nt'. Whe re  'pri ce  of mos t re ce nt i nve s tme nt' i s  no l onge r
cons i de re d to be  a ppropri a te , the  Group ha s  us e d va l ua 4ons  ba s e d on di s counte d ca s h flow me thod us i ng bus i ne s s  fore ca s ts  provi de d by the
i nve s te e  compa ny, re ve nue  mul ti pl e s  of compa ra bl e  l i s te d compa ni e s  a nd compa ra bl e  tra ns a cti ons .

 
-       Price of recent investment

The  Group cons i de rs  tha t fa i r va l ue  e s 4ma te s , whi ch a re  ba s e d e n4re l y on obs e rva bl e  ma rke t da ta , wi l l  be  of gre a te r re l i a bi l i ty tha n thos e  ba s e d
on a s s umpti ons  a nd, a ccordi ngl y, whe re  the re  ha s  be e n a ny re ce nt i nve s tme nt by thi rd pa rti e s , the  pri ce  of tha t i nve s tme nt wi l l  ge ne ra l l y provi de
a  ba s i s  of the  va l ua 4on. The  l e ngth of pe ri od for whi ch i t re ma i ns  a ppropri a te  to us e  the  pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt de pe nds  on the  s pe ci fic
ci rcums ta nce s  of the  i nve s tme nt a nd the  s ta bi l i ty of the  e xte rna l  e nvi ronme nt. Gi ve n the  na ture  of the  Group's  i nve s tme nts  i n e a rl y-s ta ge
compa ni e s , whe re  the re  a re  oQe n no curre nt a nd no s hort-te rm future  e a rni ngs  or pos i 4ve  ca s h flows , i t ca n be  di fficul t to ga uge  the  proba bi l i ty
a nd fina nci a l  i mpa ct of the  s ucce s s  or fa i l ure  of de ve l opme nt or re s e a rch a c4vi 4e s  a nd to ma ke  re l i a bl e  ca s h flow fore ca s ts . Cons e que ntl y, the
mos t a ppropri a te  a pproa ch to de te rmi ne  fa i r va l ue  i s  a  me thodol ogy tha t i s  ba s e d on ma rke t da ta , tha t be i ng the  pri ce  of a  re ce nt i nve s tme nt.
Whe re  the  Group cons i de rs  tha t the  pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt, una djus te d, i s  no l onge r re l e va nt a nd the re  a re  l i mi te d or no compa ra bl e
compa ni e s  or tra ns a c4ons  from whi ch to i nfe r va l ue , the  Group ca rri e s  out a n e nha nce d a s s e s s me nt ba s e d on mi l e s tone  a na l ys i s  a nd/or i ndus try
a nd s e ctor a na l ys i s . In a ppl yi ng the  mi l e s tone  a na l ys i s  a pproa ch to i nve s tme nts  i n compa ni e s  i n e a rl y or de ve l opme nt s ta ge s  the  Group s e e ks  to
de te rmi ne  whe the r the re  i s  a n i ndi ca 4on of cha nge  i n fa i r va l ue  ba s e d on a  cons i de ra 4on of pe rforma nce  a ga i ns t a ny mi l e s tone s  tha t we re  s e t
a t the  4me  of the  ori gi na l  i nve s tme nt de ci s i on, a s  we l l  a s  ta ki ng i nto cons i de ra 4on the  ke y ma rke t dri ve rs  of the  i nve s te e  compa ny a nd the
ove ra l l  e conomi c e nvi ronme nt.
 
Whe re  the  Group cons i de rs  tha t the re  i s  a n i ndi ca 4on tha t the  fa i r va l ue  ha s  cha nge d, a n e s 4ma 4on i s  ma de  of the  re qui re d a mount of a ny
a djus tme nt from the  l a s t pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt. Whe re ve r pos s i bl e , thi s  a djus tme nt i s  ba s e d on obje c4ve  da ta  from the  i nve s te e  compa ny
a nd the  e xpe ri e nce  a nd judge me nt of the  Group. Howe ve r, a ny a djus tme nt i s , by i ts  ve ry na ture , s ubje c4ve . Whe re  a  de te ri ora 4on i n va l ue  ha s
occurre d, the  Group re duce s  the  ca rryi ng va l ue  of the  i nve s tme nt to re fl e ct the  e s ti ma te d de cre a s e . I f the re  i s  e vi de nce  of va l ue  cre a ti on the
Group ma y cons i de r i ncre a s i ng the  ca rryi ng va l ue  of the  i nve s tme nt; howe ve r, i n the  a bs e nce  of a ddi 4ona l  fina nci ng rounds  or profit ge ne ra 4on i t
ca n be  di fficul t to de te rmi ne  the  va l ue  tha t a  purcha s e r ma y pl a ce  on pos i 4ve  de ve l opme nts  gi ve n the  pote n4a l  outcome  a nd the  cos ts  a nd ri s ks
to a chi e vi ng tha t outcome  a nd a ccordi ngl y ca uti on i s  a ppl i e d. Fa ctors  tha t the  Group cons i de rs  i ncl ude , i nte r a l i a , te chni ca l  me a s ure s  s uch
a s  product de ve l opme nt pha s e s  a nd pa te nt a pprova l s , fina nci a l  me a s ure s  s uch a s  ca s h burn ra te  a nd profita bi l i ty e xpe cta 4ons , a nd ma rke t a nd
s a l e s  me a s ure s  s uch a s  te s ti ng pha s e s , product l a unche s  a nd ma rke t i ntroducti on.
In the  curre nt fina nci a l  ye a r, whe re  'pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt' me thodol ogy wa s  us e d to va l ue  the  bus i ne s s , s ome  i nve s tme nts  we re  cons i de re d
not to be  ma ki ng s i gni fica nt comme rci a l  progre s s  a nd whe n a  di s count wa s  a ppl i e d to re fle ct the  non-ma rke ta bi l i ty a s s oci a te d wi th Bra ve he a rt's
l i mi te d control  of the  bus i ne s s , the  re s ul ti ng va l ua ti ons  we re  ze ro.
 

 
-       Other valuation techniques

If the re  i s  no re a di l y a s ce rta i na bl e  va l ue  from fol l owi ng the  'pri ce  of re ce nt i nve s tme nt' me thodol ogy, or the re  i s  obje c4ve  e vi de nce  tha t a
de te ri ora 4on or s i gni fica nt i mprove me nt i n fa i r va l ue  ha s  occurre d s i nce  a  re l e va nt tra ns a c4on, the  Group cons i de rs  a l te rna 4ve  me thodol ogi e s
s uch a s  di s counte d ca s h flows  ("DCF"). DCF i nvol ve s  e s 4ma 4ng the  fa i r va l ue  of a  bus i ne s s  by ca l cul a 4ng the  pre s e nt va l ue  of e xpe cte d future
ca s h fl ows , ba s e d on the  mos t re ce nt fore ca s ts  i n re s pe ct of the  unde rl yi ng bus i ne s s . Gi ve n the  di ffi cul ty of produci ng re l i a bl e  ca s h fl ow fore ca s ts
 
for e a rl y-s ta ge  compa ni e s  a s  de s cri be d e a rl i e r, thi s  me thodol ogy i s  us e d onl y whe re  i t i s  cons i de re d the re  i s  re a s ona bl e  e vi de nce  of curre nt a nd
ongoi ng i ncome  s tre a ms .
 

-       No reliable estimate
Whe re  a  fa i r va l ue  ca nnot be  e s 4ma te d re l i a bl y, the  i nve s tme nt i s  re porte d a t the  ca rryi ng va l ue  a t the  pre vi ous  re por4ng da te  unl e s s  the re  i s
obje cti ve  e vi de nce  tha t the  i nve s tme nt ha s  s i nce  be e n i mpa i re d.
 

-       Loans and receivables
Loa ns  a nd re ce i va bl e s  a re  non-de ri va 4ve  fina nci a l  a s s e ts  wi th fixe d or de te rmi na bl e  pa yme nts  tha t a re  not quote d i n a n a c4ve  ma rke t, a nd
compri s e  tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s , othe r fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a nd ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts , a l l  of whi ch a re  i ni 4a l l y re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue
a nd a re  s ubs e que ntl y me a s ure d a t a mor4s e d cos t us i ng the  e ffe c4ve  i nte re s t ra te  me thod. Thi s  me a ns  tha t, i n ca s e s  whe re  re pa yme nt of the
l oa n or othe r re ce i va bl e  i s  i n doubt, due  to the  comme rci a l  pe rforma nce  of the  re ci pi e nt, the  va l ue  of tha t l oa n ma y be  i mpa i re d to ze ro i n the
a ccounts .                                             
The y a re  i ncl ude d i n curre nt a s s e ts , e xce pt for ma turi ty gre a te r tha n 12 months  a Qe r the  e nd of the  re por4ng pe ri od, whe re by the s e  a re
cl a s s i fi e d a s  non-curre nt a s s e ts . 

-       Trade receivables
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s  a re  i ni 4a l l y re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue  whi ch i s  norma l l y the  i nvoi ce  va l ue  i n s hort te rm re ce i va bl e s . The re a Qe r the  re ce i va bl e s
a re  ca rri e d a t a mor4s e d cos t. Provi s i on i s  ma de  whe re  the re  i s  obje c4ve  e vi de nce  tha t a  ba l a nce  wi l l  not be  re cove re d i n ful l  i n a ccorda nce  wi th
the  i ns trume nt's  ori gi na l  te rms . An i mpa i rme nt ca l cul a 4on i s  ba s e d on a  compa ri s on be twe e n the  ca rryi ng a mount a nd the  ne t pre s e nt va l ue  of
e xpe cte d future  ca s h flows , di s counte d by the  ori gi na l  e ffe c4ve  ra te .  It ca n be  concl ude d tha t a ny provi s i on ca l cul a te d woul d not ha ve  ma te ri a l
i mpa ct on the  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts  due  to the  mi ni ma l  a mount of re ce i va bl e s  a nd a  forma l  pol i cy wi l l  be  i mpl e me nte d whe n ne ce s s a ry.

 
-       Cash and cash equivalents

Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts  i n the  cons ol i da te d ca s hfl ow compri s e  ca s h i n ha nd a nd s hort te rm ba nk de pos i ts . 
 
(l) Financial liabilities
Fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s , be i ng tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s , a re  i ni ti a l l y re cogni s e d a t fa i r va l ue  a nd a re  s ubs e que ntl y ca rri e d a t a morti s e d cos t.
 



(m) The Company's investment in its subsidiaries
In the  Compa ny's  a ccounts , i nve s tme nt i n i ts  s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs  a re  s ta te d a t cos t l e s s  a ny provi s i on for i mpa i rme nt.

 
(n) Equity
Fi na nci a l  i ns trume nts  i s s ue d by the  Group a re  tre a te d a s  e qui ty i f the  hol de rs  ha ve  onl y a  re s i dua l  i nte re s t i n the  Group's  a s s e ts  a Qe r de duc4ng
a l l  l i a bi l i ti e s . The  Group cons i de rs  i ts  ca pi ta l  to compri s e  i ts  s ha re  ca pi ta l , s ha re  pre mi um, me rge r re s e rve  a nd re ta i ne d e a rni ngs .

·      Sha re  pre mi um - a mount s ubs cri be d for s ha re  ca pi ta l  i n e xce s s  of nomi na l  va l ue , ne t of di re ctl y a ttri buta bl e  i s s ue  cos ts ;
·      Re ta i ne d e a rni ngs  - cumul a 4ve  ne t ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re cogni s e d i n the  cons ol i da te d s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  ne t of

a s s oci a te d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nts  cre di ts ;
·      Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nt re s e rve  - a mount ge ne ra te d from the  a wa rd of s ha re  opti ons  a nd wa rra nti e s .

The  Group's  ca pi ta l  ma na ge me nt obje cti ve s  a re :
·      to e ns ure  the  Group's  a bi l i ty to conti nue  a s  a  goi ng conce rn;
·      to e ns ure  a  s uffi ci e nt ca s h ba l a nce  i s  ma i nta i ne d; a nd
·      to ma xi mi s e  re turns  to s ha re hol de rs .

The  Group con4nuous l y moni tors  rol l i ng ca s h flow fore ca s ts  to e ns ure  s uffici e nt ca s h i s  a va i l a bl e  for a n4ci pa te d ca s h re qui re me nts . The  Group
ma y i s s ue  ne w s ha re s  or re a l i s e  i nve s tme nts  to me e t s uch re qui re me nts . To da te  the  Group ha s  ne gl i gi bl e  borrowi ngs  a nd doe s  not pa y a
di vi de nd. Inve s tme nts  ma de  by the  Group a re  s ubje ct to de ta i l e d s e l e c4on cri te ri a  a nd  a re  moni tore d ca re ful l y by the  Boa rd. The  group cons i de rs
tha t i t ha s  a ppropri a te l y ma na ge d i ts  ca pi ta l  re qui re me nts  duri ng the  ye a r.
 
The re  ha s  be e n no cha nge  i n ca pi ta l  ma na ge me nt obje cti ve s , pol i ci e s  a nd proce dure s  from the  pre vi ous  ye a r.
 
(o) Share-based payments
The  cos t of e qui ty-s e Kl e d tra ns a c4ons  wi th e mpl oye e s  i s  me a s ure d by re fe re nce  to the  fa i r va l ue  of the  i ns trume nts  i s s ue d a t the  da te  a t whi ch
the y a re  gra nte d a nd i s  re cogni s e d a s  a n e xpe ns e  ove r the  ve s 4ng pe ri od, whi ch e nds  on the  da te  on whi ch the  re l e va nt e mpl oye e s  be come  ful l y
e n4tl e d to the  a wa rd.  Fa i r va l ue  i s  de te rmi ne d us i ng a n a ppropri a te  pri ci ng mode l .  In va l ui ng e qui ty-s e Kl e d tra ns a c4ons , no a ccount i s  ta ke n of
a ny ve s ti ng condi ti ons , othe r tha n condi ti ons  l i nke d to the  pri ce  of the  s ha re s  of the  Compa ny (ma rke t condi ti ons ).
 
No e xpe ns e  i s  re cogni s e d for a wa rds  tha t do not ul 4ma te l y ve s t, e xce pt for a wa rds  whe re  ve s 4ng i s  condi 4ona l  upon a  ma rke t condi 4on, whi ch
a re  tre a te d a s  ve s 4ng i rre s pe c4ve  of whe the r or not the  ma rke t condi 4on i s  s a 4s fie d, provi de d tha t a l l  othe r pe rforma nce  condi 4ons  a re
s a ti s fi e d.
At e a ch re por4ng da te  be fore  ve s 4ng, the  cumul a 4ve  e xpe ns e  i s  ca l cul a te d, re pre s e n4ng the  e xte nt to whi ch the  ve s 4ng pe ri od ha s  e xpi re d a nd
ma na ge me nt's  be s t e s 4ma te  of the  a chi e ve me nt or othe rwi s e  of non-ma rke t condi 4ons  a nd of the  numbe r of e qui ty i ns trume nts  tha t wi l l
ul 4ma te l y ve s t or, i n the  ca s e  of a n i ns trume nt s ubje ct to a  ma rke t condi 4on, be  tre a te d a s  ve s 4ng a s  de s cri be d a bove .  The  move me nt i n
cumul a 4ve  e xpe ns e  s i nce  the  pre vi ous  re por4ng da te  i s  re cogni s e d i n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome , wi th a  corre s pondi ng e ntry i n
e qui ty.
 
Whe re  the  te rms  of a n e qui ty-s e Kl e d a wa rd a re  modi fie d or a  ne w a wa rd i s  de s i gna te d a s  re pl a ci ng a  ca nce l l e d or s e Kl e d a wa rd, the  cos t ba s e d
on the  ori gi na l  a wa rd te rms  con4nue s  to be  re cogni s e d ove r the  ori gi na l  ve s 4ng pe ri od.  In a ddi 4on, a ny e xpe ns e  i s  re cogni s e d ove r the
re ma i nde r of the  ne w ve s 4ng pe ri od for the  i ncre me nta l  fa i r va l ue  of a ny modi fica 4on, ba s e d on the  di ffe re nce  be twe e n the  fa i r va l ue  of the
ori gi na l  a wa rd a nd the  fa i r va l ue  of the  modi fie d a wa rd, both a s  me a s ure d on the  da te  of the  modi fica 4on.  No re duc4on i s  re cogni s e d i f thi s
di ffe re nce  i s  ne ga ti ve .
Whe re  a n e qui ty-s e Kl e d a wa rd i s  ca nce l l e d, i t i s  tre a te d a s  i f i t ha d ve s te d on the  da te  of ca nce l l a 4on, a nd a ny cos t not ye t re cogni s e d i n the
s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome  for the  a wa rd i s  e xpe ns e d i mme di a te l y.  Any compe ns a 4on pa i d up to the  fa i r va l ue  of the  a wa rd a t the
ca nce l l a 4on or s e Kl e me nt da te  i s  de ducte d from e qui ty, wi th a ny e xce s s  ove r fa i r va l ue  be i ng tre a te d a s  a n e xpe ns e  i n the  s ta te me nt of
compre he ns i ve  i ncome .
 
 (p) Pensions
The  Group ma ke s  de fine d pe ns i on contri bu4ons  to ce rta i n e mpl oye e s  of the  group. The  a s s e ts  of the  s che me  a re  he l d s e pa ra te l y from thos e  of
the  Group i n i nde pe nde ntl y a dmi ni s te re d funds . The  Group ha s  no furthe r obl i ga 4ons  once  the  contri bu4ons  ha ve  be e n pa i d. The  contri bu4ons
a re  re cogni s e d a s  e mpl oye e  be ne fi ts  e xpe ns e s  whe n the y a re  due .
 
 (q) Foreign currency
Fore i gn curre ncy e xcha nge  ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re s ul 4ng from the  re me a s ure me nt of mone ta ry i te ms  de nomi na te d i n fore i gn curre ncy a t the  ye a r-e nd
e xcha nge  ra te s  a re  re cogni s e d i n the  s ta te me nt of compre he ns i ve  i ncome . Fore i gn curre ncy tra ns a c4ons  a re  tra ns l a te d i nto the  func4ona l
curre ncy us i ng the  e xcha nge  ra te s  pre va i l i ng a t the  da te s  of the  tra ns a c4ons . Fore i gn e xcha nge  ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  re s ul 4ng from the  s e Kl e me nt of
s uch tra ns a c4ons  a nd from the  tra ns l a 4on a t ye a r-e nd e xcha nge  ra te s  of mone ta ry a s s e ts  a nd l i a bi l i 4e s  de nomi na te d i n fore i gn curre nci e s  a re
re cogni s e d i n the  i ncome  s ta te me nt. Fore i gn e xcha nge  ga i ns  a nd l os s e s  a re  pre s e nte d i n the  i ncome  s ta te me nt wi thi n 'fi na nce  i ncome  or cos ts .'
 
(r) Earnings per share
Ba s i c e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  i s  ca l cul a te d by di vi di ng:

·      the  profi t a ttri buta bl e  to owne rs  of the  compa ny, e xcl udi ng a ny cos ts  of s e rvi ci ng e qui ty othe r tha n ordi na ry s ha re s ;
·      by the  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of ordi na ry s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng duri ng the  fina nci a l  ye a r, a djus te d for bonus  e l e me nts  i n ordi na ry

s ha re s  i s s ue d duri ng the  ye a r a nd e xcl udi ng tre a s ury s ha re s  (note  18).
Di l ute d e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  a djus ts  the  fi gure s  us e d i n the  de te rmi na ti on of ba s i c e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  to ta ke  i nto a ccount:

·      the  a fte r-i ncome  ta x e ffe ct of i nte re s t a nd othe r fi na nci ng cos ts  a s s oci a te d wi th di l uti ve  pote nti a l  ordi na ry s ha re s ; a nd
·      the  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of a ddi 4ona l  ordi na ry s ha re s  tha t woul d ha ve  be e n outs ta ndi ng, a s s umi ng the  conve rs i on of a l l  di l u4ve

pote nti a l  ordi na ry s ha re s .
(s) Segmental Reporting
The  boa rd onl y cons i de rs  the re  to be  one  s e gme nt i n the  group a nd the re fore  the re  i s  no note  i ncl ude d for s e gme nta l  re porti ng.
 
3 Revenue from contracts with customers
Re ve nue  i s  a ttri buta bl e  to the  pri nci pa l  a cti vi ti e s  of the  Group. In 2024 a nd 2023, a l l  re ve nue  a ros e  wi thi n the  Uni te d Ki ngdom.

   
 Group

2024
Group

2023
 £ £

Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 40,000 15,000
Moni tori ng fe e s 3,600 3,600
Cons ul ta ncy 17,296 32,302

60,896 50,902

 
Of the  re ve nue  s ta te d a bove , £20,770 (2023: £32,302) re l a te d to The  La che s i s  Se e d Fund Li mi te d Pa rtne rs hi p.
The  group de ri ve s  re ve nue  from the  tra ns fe r of goods  a nd s e rvi ce s  ove r ti me  a nd a t a  poi nt i n ti me  i n the  fol l owi ng ma jor product l i ne s :



The  group de ri ve s  re ve nue  from the  tra ns fe r of goods  a nd s e rvi ce s  ove r ti me  a nd a t a  poi nt i n ti me  i n the  fol l owi ng ma jor product l i ne s :
 Investment

management
Monitoring
fee Consultancy Total

2024      
      

Ti mi ng of re ve nue
re cogni ti on

     

At a  poi nt i n ti me   3,600 - 3,600

Ove r ti me 40,000  - 17,296 57,296

 40,000  3,600 17,296 60,896

2023      

      

Ti mi ng of re ve nue
re cogni ti on

     

At a  poi nt i n ti me   3,600 - 3,600

Ove r ti me 15,000  - 32,302 47,302

 15,000  3,600 32,302 50,902

 
 
4 Finance income

   
Group

 
Group

   2024 2023
   £ £
Ba nk i nte re s t re ce i va bl e 16,896 21,003

16,896 21,003

 
 
5 Employee benefits expense

    
Company

2024
Company

2023
Group

2024
Group

2023
£ £ £ £

Sa l a ri e s 427,451 306,481 427,451 306,481
Soci a l  s e curi ty cos ts 32,018 24,568 32,018 24,568
Pe ns i on cos ts 7,780 5,874 7,780 5,874
Sha re  ba s e d pa yme nts 126,985 219,223 126,985 219,223

594,234 556,146 594,234 556,146

 
The  a ve ra ge  numbe r of pe rs ons  (i ncl udi ng di re ctors ) e mpl oye d by the  Group duri ng the  ye a r wa s  5 (2023: 4), a l l  of whom we re  i nvol ve d i n
ma na ge me nt a nd a dmi ni s tra 4ve  a c4vi 4e s . The  a ve ra ge  numbe r of pe rs ons  (i ncl udi ng di re ctors ) e mpl oye d by the  compa ny duri ng the  ye a r wa s  4
(2023: 3) The  re mune ra ti on of the  di re ctors , i s  s e t out be l ow i n a ggre ga te :

     
2024

 
2023

    £ £
Short-te rm e mpl oye e  be ne fi ts 347,452 299,814
Soci a l  s e curi ty cos ts 22,232 23,753

369,684 323,567

Pos t-e mpl oyme nt be ne fi t 5,380 5,674
Sha re -ba s e d pa yme nts 126,985 219,223

502,049 548,464

 
The  figure s  i n thi s  note  i ncl ude s  s oci a l  s e curi ty cos ts . Furthe r i nforma 4on a bout the  re mune ra 4on of i ndi vi dua l  di re ctors  i s  provi de d i n the
Di re ctors ' Re mune ra ti on Re port.
Re mune ra ti on to the  hi ghe s t pa i d di re ctor wa s  £148,521 (2023: £135,096). Thi s  fi gure  e xcl ude s  s oci a l  s e curi ty cos ts .
 

6 Finance costs
   
 Group Group

 2024 2023
 £ £

Ba nk cha rge s 2,795 2,154

 
 
7 Expenses by nature

   
 Group Group

The  fol l owi ng ha ve  be e n cha rge d i n a rri vi ng a t ope ra ti ng l os s :
2024 2023

 £ £
De pre ci a ti on a nd a morti s a ti on             310 378



De pre ci a ti on a nd a morti s a ti on             310 378
Audi tor's  re mune ra ti on:
Audi t s e rvi ce s
   - Fe e s  pa ya bl e  for the  a udi t of the  cons ol i da ti on a nd the  pa re nt compa ny a ccounts 63,450 56,700
Le ga l , profe s s i ona l  a nd cons ul ta ncy cos ts 42,986 49,605
Stockbroke r cos ts 65,525 76,250
Othe r e xpe ns e s 106,581 100,423
Tota l 278,852 283,356

 
 
8 Tax on profit on ordinary activities
 
No l i a bi l i ty to UK corpora 4on ta x a ros e  on ordi na ry a c4vi 4e s  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2024 or for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch
2023.
 

    
  Group Group
  2024 2023
Reconciliation of total tax:  £ £
(Los s )/ profi t be fore  ta x (8,193,316) 2,358,490

Ta x a t the  s ta tutory ra te  of 25% (2023: 19%) (2,048,329) 448,113
Di s a l l owe d e xpe ns e s 431,762 43,288
Ca pi ta l  a l l owa nce s  i n e xce s s  of de pre ci a ti on 78 72
Unre a l i s e d l os s / (ga i n) on the  fa i r va l ue  move me nt of
i nve s tme nts 1,468,112 (561,705)
Sha re  s che me  de ducti on - (3,047)
Othe r non-re ve rs i ng ti mi ng di ffe re nce s (944,050) 773,652
Ta x l os s e s  ca rri e d forwa rd 148,377 73,279
Total tax reported in the statement of comprehensive income (944,050) 773,652

 

  The  Group ha s  pote nti a l  cumul a ti ve  unre cogni s e d de fe rre d ta x a s s e ts  i n re s pe ct of:
·      e xce s s  ma na ge me nt e xpe ns e s  of £1,430,874 (2023: £843,506) a ri s i ng from Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c; a nd

·      e xce s s  ma na ge me nt e xpe ns e s  of £559,199 (2023: £558,768) a ri s i ng from Ca l e doni a  Portfol i o Re a l i s a ti ons  Li mi te d.

·      e xce s s  tra di ng l os s  of £12,564 (2023: £5,701) a ri s i ng from The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d.
 

From Apri l  2023, the  corpora ti on ta x ra te  i ncre a s e d from 19% to 25%.
 
No de fe rre d ta x a s s e ts  ha ve  be e n re cogni s e d i n re s pe ct of the s e  a mounts  a s  i t i s  unce rta i n tha t the re  wi l l  be  s ui ta bl e  ta xa bl e
profi ts  from whi ch the  future  re ve rs a l  of the  de fe rre d ta x coul d be  de ducte d.
 
9 Earnings per share
Ba s i c e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  ha s  be e n ca l cul a te d by di vi di ng the  profit a Kri buta bl e  to e qui ty hol de rs  of the  pa re nt by the  we i ghte d
a ve ra ge  numbe r of ordi na ry s ha re s  i n i s s ue  duri ng the  ye a r.
The  ca l cul a ti ons  of profi t pe r s ha re  a re  ba s e d on the  fol l owi ng profi t a nd numbe rs  of s ha re s  i n i s s ue :

   
   2024   2023

£ £
(Los s )/ profi t for the  ye a r (7,249,266) 1,584,838

We i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of ordi na ry s ha re s  i n i s s ue : No. No.
For ba s i c profi t pe r ordi na ry s ha re 63,723,489 59,104,950
Pote nti a l l y di l uti ve  ordi na ry s ha re s - -
For di l ute d e a rni ngs  pe r ordi na ry s ha re 63,723,489 59,104,950

 
Ea rni ngs  pe r s ha re Pence Pence
- ba s i c 9 (11.38) 2.68
- di l ute d 9 (11.38) 2.68

 
Di l u4ve  e a rni ngs  pe r s ha re  a djus ts  for s ha re  op4ons  gra nte d whe re  the  e xe rci s e  pri ce  i s  l e s s  tha n the  a ve ra ge  pri ce  of the
ordi na ry s ha re s  duri ng the  pe ri od.  At the  curre nt ye a r e nd the re  we re  Ni l  (2023: Ni l ) pote nti a l l y di l uti ve  ordi na ry s ha re s .
The  di l ute d e a rni ngs  pe r Ordi na ry Sha re  i s  ca l cul a te d by a djus 4ng the  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  numbe r of Ordi na ry s ha re s  outs ta ndi ng
to cons i de r the  i mpa ct of opti ons , wa rra nts  a nd othe r di l uti ve  s e curi ti e s .
 
10 Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Le ve l  1 Le ve l  2 Le ve l  3

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts

i n quote d
compa ni e s

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

De bt
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

De bt
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s Tota l

GROUP £ £ £ £ £ £

At 1 April 2022 1,133,854 - - 3,803,301 - 4,937,155

Addi ti ons  a t Cos t 1,177,139 - - 650,656 - 1,827,795

Di s pos a l s  a t Cos t (257,490) - - - - (257,490)

Amount owe d to cre di tors - - - (6,801) - (6,801)

Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (41,626) - - 2,999,291 - 2,957,665



Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (41,626) - - 2,999,291 - 2,957,665

At 1 April 2023 2,011,877 - - 7,446,447 - 9,458,324

Addi ti ons  a t Cos t 382,516 - - 150,000 - 532,516

Di s pos a l s  a t Cos t (296,384) - - (912,272) - (1,208,656)

Amount owe d to cre di tors - - - (24,201) - (24,201)

Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (483,914) - - (1,773,379) - (2,257,293)

Impa i rme nt - - - (4,847,349) - (4,847,349)

At 31 March 2024 1,614,095 - - 39,246 - 1,653,341

 
Incl ude d i n the  ba l a nce  a bove  a re  i nve s tme nts  tha t woul d be  owe d to the  Bri 4s h Bus i ne s s  Ba nk through the  Re ve nue  Sha re
Agre e me nt. At the  ye a r e nd, a n a mount of £41 woul d be  due  to the  Bri 4s h Bus i ne s s  Ba nk on di s pos a l . Thi s  l i a bi l i ty i s  s hown i n
the  a ccounts  wi thi n othe r cre di tors .
 

Le ve l  1 Le ve l  2 Le ve l  3

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts

i n quote d
compa ni e s

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

De bt
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

Equi ty
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s

De bt
i nve s tme nts
i n unquote d

compa ni e s Tota l

COMPANY £ £ £ £ £ £

At 1 April 2022 1,133,854 - - 3,758,693 - 4,892,547

Addi ti ons  a t Cos t 1,177,139 - - 650,717 - 1,827,856

Di s pos a l  a t Cos t (257,490) - - - - (257,490)

Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (41,626) - - 3,002,195 - 2,960,569

At 31 March 2023 2,011,877 - - 7,411,605 - 9,423,482

Addi ti ons  a t Cos t 382,516 - - 150,000 - 532,516

Di s pos a l  a t Cos t (296,384) - - (912,272) - (1,208,656)

Cha nge  i n Fa i r Va l ue (483,914) - - (1,762,756) - (2,246,670)

Impa i rme nt - - - (4,847,349) - (4,847,349)

At 31 March 2024 1,614,095 - - 39,228 - 1,653,323

 
As  a t 31 Ma rch 2024, the  group tota l  va l ue  of i nve s tme nts  i n compa ni e s  wa s  £1,653,341 (2023: £9,458,324).
The  group tota l  cha nge  i n fa i r va l ue  duri ng the  ye a r wa s  a  l os s  of £2,257,293 (2023: profit £2,957,665). The re  we re  i mpa i rme nts  to
i nve s tme nts  i n the  ye a r of £4,847,349 (2023: £Ni l ).
 
Inve s tme nts , whi ch i s  ma de  up of e qui ty i nve s tme nts , a re  de s i gna te d on i ni 4a l  re cogni 4on a s  fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a t fa i r va l ue
through profi t or l os s . Thi s  me a s ure me nt ba s i s  i s  cons i s te nt wi th the  fa ct tha t the  Group's  pe rforma nce  i n re s pe ct of i ts  portfol i o
i nve s tme nts  i s  e va l ua te d on a  fa i r va l ue  ba s i s  i n a ccorda nce  wi th a n e s ta bl i s he d i nve s tme nt s tra te gy. Whe n i nve s tme nts  a re
re cogni s e d i ni ti a l l y, the y a re  me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue .
 
AQe r i ni 4a l  re cogni 4on the  fa i r va l ue  of l i s te d i nve s tme nts  i s  de te rmi ne d by re fe re nce  to bi d pri ce s  a t the  cl os e  of bus i ne s s  on
the  re por4ng da te . Unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts  a re  me a s ure d a t fa i r va l ue  by the  di re ctors  i n compl i a nce  wi th the  pri nci pl e s  of
the  Inte rna 4ona l  Pri va te  Equi ty a nd Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  Gui de l i ne s , upda te d a nd e ffe c4ve  De ce mbe r 2015, a s  re comme nde d by the
Europe a n Ve nture  Ca pi ta l  As s oci a 4on. The  fa i r va l ue  of unl i s te d e qui ty i nve s tme nts  i s  de te rmi ne d us i ng the  mos t a ppropri a te
of the  va l ua 4on me thodol ogi e s  s e t out i n the  gui de l i ne s . The s e  i ncl ude  us i ng re ce nt a rm's  l e ngth ma rke t tra ns a c4ons ;
re fe re nce  to the  curre nt ma rke t va l ue  of a nothe r i ns trume nt, whi ch i s  s ubs ta n4a l l y the  s a me ; e a rni ngs  or profit mul 4pl e s ;
i ndi ca ti ve  offe rs ; di s counte d ca s h fl ow a na l ys i s  a nd pri ci ng mode l s .
The  Group cl a s s i fi e s  i ts  i nve s tme nts  us i ng a  fa i r va l ue  hi e ra rchy. Cl a s s i fi ca ti on wi thi n the  hi e ra rchy ha s  be e n de te rmi ne d on the
ba s i s  of the  l owe s t l e ve l  i nput tha t i s  s i gni fi ca nt to the  fa i r va l ue  me a s ure me nt of the  re l e va nt i nve s tme nt a s  fol l ows :

·      Le ve l  1 - va l ue d us i ng quote d pri ce s  i n a cti ve  ma rke ts  for i de nti ca l  a s s e ts ;
·      Le ve l  2 - va l ue d by re fe re nce  to va l ua 4on te chni que s  us i ng obs e rva bl e  i nputs  othe r tha n quote d pri ce s  i ncl ude d wi thi n

Le ve l  1; a nd
·      Le ve l  3 - va l ue d by re fe re nce  to va l ua ti on te chni que s  us i ng i nputs  tha t a re  not ba s e d on obs e rva bl e  ma rke t da ta .

The  fa i r va l ue s  of quote d i nve s tme nts  a re  ba s e d on bi d pri ce s  i n a n a c4ve  ma rke t a t the  re por4ng da te . Al l  unquote d
i nve s tme nts  ha ve  be e n cl a s s i fie d a s  Le ve l  3 wi thi n the  fa i r va l ue  hi e ra rchy, the i r re s pe c4ve  va l ua 4ons  ha vi ng be e n ca l cul a te d
us i ng a  numbe r of va l ua 4on te chni que s  a nd a s s ump4ons , notwi ths ta ndi ng tha t the  ba s i s  of the  va l ua 4on me thodol ogy
pre fe rre d by the  Group i s  'pri ce  of mos t re ce nt i nve s tme nt'.  To re fl e ct the  pote nti a l  i mpa ct of a l te rna ti ve  a s s umpti ons  a nd a  l a ck
of l i qui di ty i n the s e  hol di ngs , a  di s count ha s  be e n a ppl i e d to a l l  Le ve l  3 va l ua 4ons .  Whe n us i ng the  DCF va l ua 4on me thod,
re a s ona bl y pos s i bl e  a l te rna ti ve  a s s umpti ons  coul d ha ve  a  ma te ri a l  e ffe ct on the  fa i r va l ua ti on of i nve s tme nts .
 
The  me thodol ogi e s  us e d i n the  ye a r for l e ve l  3 i nve s tme nts  a re  broke n down a s  fol l ows :

Me thodol ogy De s cri pti on Inputs Adjus tme nts

 % of porCol i o
va l ue d on thi s
ba s i s

Fund Ra i s i ng Us e d for unquote d
i nve s tme nts  whe re  the re
ha s  be e n a  fundi ng round,
ge ne ra l l y wi thi n the  l a s t
twe l ve  months

The  pri ce  of the  mos t
re ce nt i nve s tme nt

A l i qui di ty di s count i s  a ppl i e d,
typi ca l l y 15%. Whe re  l a s t
fundi ng round i s  gre a te r tha n
twe l ve  months  the n furthe r
di s counts  ra ngi ng be twe e n 0%
a nd 100% a re  a ppl i e d.

100%

De bt/Loa n
note s

Loa n i nve s tme nts The  fa i r va l ue  of de bt
i nve s tme nt i s  de e me d to
be  cos t l e s s  a ny
i mpa i rme nt provi s i on

Impa i rme nt provi s i on i f
de e me d ne ce s s a ry

0%

Di s counte d
ca s h flow
a nd re ve nue
mul ti pl e s

Us e d for compa ni e s  wi th
l ong-te rm ca s h flows  a nd
ha vi ng compa ra bl e
tra ns a c4ons / compa ni e s  i n
the  l i s te d s e gme nt

Long te rm ca s h flows  a re
di s counte d a t a  ra te
cons i de re d a ppropri a te  for
the  bus i ne s s , typi ca l l y 25%.
Re ve nue  mul 4pl e s  a re
typi ca l l y 5 to 10 4me s  of

A l i qui di ty di s count i s  a ppl i e d,
typi ca l l y 20%

0.0%



typi ca l l y 5 to 10 4me s  of
forwa rd l ooki ng re ve nue .

 
Cha nge  i n fa i r va l ue  i n the  ye a r:

  
Group

2024

 
Group

2023
 

 £ £  
Fa i r va l ue  ga i ns  131,150 4,722,538  
Fa i r va l ue  l os s e s  (2,388,443) (1,764,873)  

 (2,257,293) 2,957,665  

The  ga i n i n the  ye a r ca me  from the  upl i Q of the  va l ua 4on i n Au4ns . The  ma i n re a s ons  for the  fa i r va l ue  l os s e s  we re  due  to the
di s pos a l  i n Pha s e  Focus  Hol di ngs  (£1,740,000) a nd the  re duc4on i n va l ue  i n Auke K (£506,000), Ima gi ng Sca n (£66,000), Ve l oci ty
Compos i te s  (£44,000), Ryboqui n (£3,000) a nd Di me ns i ona l  Ima gi ng (£29,000).
De ta i l s  of i nve s tme nts  whe re  the  nomi na l  va l ue  of the  hol di ng i n the  unde rta ki ng i s  20% or more  of a ny cl a s s  of s ha re  a re  a s
fol l ows :

Ca l e doni a  PorCol i o Re a l i s a 4ons  Li mi te d ('CPR') hol ds  a  20% a ggre ga te  s ha re hol di ng i n  Ve rba l i s  Li mi te d ('Ve rba l i s '), a  de s i gn
a nd produc4on of a utoma te d l a ngua ge  tra ns l a 4on s ys te ms  compa ny . Ne i the r CPR nor the  Compa ny i s  re pre s e nte d on the  Boa rd
or wi thi n ma na ge me nt of Ve rba l i s  a nd i n the  opi ni on of the  di re ctors , thi s  s ha re hol di ng doe s  not e n4tl e  the  Compa ny to e xe rt a
s i gni fi ca nt or domi na nt i nfl ue nce  ove r Ve rba l i s . The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Ve rba l i s  i s  £ni l  (2023: £ni l ).

The  Compa ny hol ds  a  100% a ggre ga te  hol di ng i n Pa ra yte c Li mi te d, whi ch de ve l ops  hi gh pe rforma nce  s pe ci a l i s t de te ctors  for the

a na l yti ca l  a nd l i fe  s ci e nce s  i ns trume nta ti on ma rke t. The  va l ua ti on of Pa ra yte c ha s  be e n re vi e we d a nd, for the  re a s ons  a re

de ta i l e d i n the  CEO s ta te me nt the  va l ua ti on of Bra ve he a rt's  i nve s tme nt ha s  be e n i mpa i re d to ze ro. The  Compa ny i s  re pre s e nte d

on the  boa rd. The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Pa ra yte c £Ni l  (2023: £3,038,625). 

The  Compa ny hol ds  a  86% a ggre ga te  hol di ng i n Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d, a  bi ote chnol ogy compa ny whi ch de ve l ope d a  s ys te m of

i nte rconne cte d cha mbe rs  for ce l l  a nd ti s s ue  cul ture  i n l a bora tori e s . The  va l ua ti on of Ki rks ta l l  ha s  be e n re vi e we d a nd, for the

re a s ons  a re  de ta i l e d i n the  CEO s ta te me nt the  va l ua ti on of Bra ve he a rt's  i nve s tme nt ha s  be e n i mpa i re d to ze ro. The  Compa ny i s

re pre s e nte d on the  Boa rd. The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Ki rks ta l l  i s  £Ni l  (2023: £1,674,845). 
 

The  Compa ny hol ds  a  38% a ggre ga te  hol di ng on Se n4ne l  Me di ca l  Li mi te d,  thi s  compa ny i s  de ve l opi ng a  poi nt of ca re  di a gnos 4c
de vi ce  for bl a dde r ca nce r de te c4on a nd moni tori ng . The  Compa ny i s  re pre s e nte d on the  Boa rd a nd i n the  opi ni on of the
di re ctors , thi s  s ha re hol di ng nor the  re pre s e nta 4ve  e n4tl e s  the  Compa ny to e xe rt a  s i gni fica nt or domi na nt i nflue nce  ove r
Se nti ne l . The  ca rryi ng va l ue  of Se nti ne l  i s  £33 (2023: £33).
 
The  Compa ny hol ds  a  38.65% a ggre ga te  hol di ng i n KDS Archi te cture  Li mi te d, a  compa ny whi ch provi de s  a rchi te ctura l  s e rvi ce s . The
Compa ny i s  not re pre s e nte d on the  Boa rd or wi thi n ma na ge me nt of KDS Archi te cture  a nd i n the  opi ni on of the  di re ctors , thi s
s ha re hol di ng doe s  not e n4tl e  the  Compa ny to e xe rt a  s i gni fica nt or domi na nt i nflue nce  ove r KDS Archi te cture . The  ca rryi ng va l ue
of KDS Archi te cture  i s  £Ni l  (2023: £76,074).
 
The  re gi s te re d a ddre s s e s  for the s e  e nti ti e s  a re  a s  fol l ows :
Ve rba l i s  Li mi te d                           Fros ti ne b Cotta ge , Fa l a , Pa thhe a d, Mi dl othi a n, Scotl a nd, EH37 5TB
Pa ra yte c Li mi te d                          York Hous e , Outga ng La ne , Os ba l dwi ck, York, Engl a nd, YO19 5UP
Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d                           York Hous e , Outga ng La ne , Os ba l dwi ck, York, Engl a nd, YO19 5UP
Se nti ne l  Me di ca l  Li mi te d             York Hous e , Outga ng La ne , Os ba l dwi ck, York, Engl a nd, YO19 5UP
KDS Archi te cture  Li mi te d              42 Lytton Roa d, Ba rne t, Engl a nd, EN5 5BY
 
11 Investment in subsidiaries
The  Compa ny ha s  the  fol l owi ng i nte re s ts  i n s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs :

Na me
Country of
Incorpora ti on Na ture  of Bus i ne s s

%
Inte re s t

Ca l e doni a  Portfol i o Re a l i s a ti ons  Li mi te d  (i) Scotl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 100%

Bra ve he a rt Aca de mi c Se e d Fundi ng GP Li mi te d  (i) Engl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 100%

Ri di ngs  Hol di ngs  Li mi te d  (i) Engl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 100%

The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d  (ii) Engl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 100%
Pa ra yte c Li mi te d (iii) Engl a nd De ve l opme nt of hi gh

pe rforma nce  s pe ci a l i s t
de te ctors

100%

Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d (iii) Engl a nd Bi ote chnol ogy 86%
Combrook Hol di ngs Engl a nd Inve s tme nt ma na ge me nt 60%
 
(i) Direct subsidiary of Braveheart Investment Group plc
(ii) Indirect subsidiary of Braveheart Investment Group plc
(iii) Not consolidated

 
 
Group e nti ti e s  a ct a s  Ge ne ra l  Pa rtne r to, a nd ha ve  a n i nte re s t i n, the  fol l owi ng l i mi te d pa rtne rs hi ps :

Na me
Pl a ce  of
Bus i ne s s

%
Inte re s t

La che s i s  Se e d Fund Engl a nd 0%
 
The  re gi s te re d a ddre s s e s  for the  s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs  a re  a s  fol l ows :
Ca l e doni a  Portfol i o Re a l i s a ti ons  Li mi te d                                             1 Ge orge  Squa re , Gl a s gow, Scotl a nd, G2 1AL
Bra ve he a rt Aca de mi c Se e d Fundi ng GP Li mi te d                                  One  Fl e e t Pl a ce , London, EC4M 7WS
Ri di ngs  Hol di ngs  Li mi te d                                                                      One  Fl e e t Pl a ce , London, EC4M 7WS
The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d                     One  Fl e e t Pl a ce , London, EC4M 7WS



The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d                     One  Fl e e t Pl a ce , London, EC4M 7WS
Pa ra yte c Li mi te d                                                                                   York Hous e , Outga ng La ne , Os ba l dwi ck, York, North Yorks hi re , YO19
5UP
Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d                                                                                    York Hous e , Outga ng La ne , Os ba l dwi ck, York, North Yorks hi re , YO19
5UP
Combrook Hol di ngs  Li mi te d                                                                   Ol d Li ne n Court, 83-85 Sha mbl e s  Stre e t, Ba rns l e y, South

Yorks hi re , Engl a nd,

                                                                S70 2SB  
 
12 Property, plant and equipment

GROUP Furniture,
fittings and
equipment

Total

£ £
Cost - At 31 March 2022 1,135 1,135
Addi ti ons - -
Cost - At 31 March 2023 1,135 1,135
Addi ti ons - -
Cost - At 31 March 2024 1,135 1,135
Depreciation - At 31 March 2022 339 339
De pre ci a ti on 378 378
Depreciation - 31 March 2023 717 717
De pre ci a ti on 310 310
Depreciation - 31 March 2024 1,027 1,027
Net Book Value - At 1 April 2024 108 108
 
Net Book Value - At 1 April 2023 418 418

 
COMPANY  Furniture,

fittings and
equipment

Total

 £ £
Cost - At 31 March 2022  1,135 1,135
Addi ti ons - -
Cost - At 31 March 2023 1,135 1,135
Addi ti ons - -
Cost - At 31 March 2024  1,135 1,135
Depreciation - 31 March 2022 339 339
De pre ci a ti on 378 378
Depreciation - 31 March 2023  717 717
De pre ci a ti on 310 310
Depreciation - 31 March 2023  1,027 1,027
Net Book Value - At 1 April 2024  108 108
 
Net Book Value - At 1 April 2023  418 418

 
13 Debtors due in over one year

     
 Group Group Company Company
 2024 2023 2024 2023

£ £ £ £
Amounts  due  from i nve s tme nt compa ni e s - 1,155,200 - 1,155,200

- 1,155,200 - 1,155,200
 

Duri ng the  ye a r,  the  Boa rd ha d concl ude d tha t Pa ra yte c's  s hort-te rm  pros pe cts  ha ve  re duce d  a nd i t no l onge r be l i e ve s  tha t
Bra ve he a rt's  outs ta ndi ng l oa ns  to  Pa ra yte c wi l l  be  re pa i d i n  the  s hort-te rm. A de ci s i on ha s  the re fore  be e n ma de  to wri te  down
the  va l ue  of the  Compa ny's   l oa n re ce i va bl e  i n Pa ra yte c to £Ni l .
 
14 Trade and other receivables

     
 Group Group Company Company
 2024 2023 2024 2023

£ £ £ £
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s 31,899 31,126 - 2,471
Pre pa yme nts  a nd a ccrue d i ncome 73,808 22,632 73,808 22,632
Amounts  due  from re l a te d pa rti e s - - 5,331 111,132
Amounts  due  from i nve s tme nt compa ni e s - 10,752 - 10,752

105,707 64,510 79,139 146,987

As  tra de  re ce i va bl e s  a re  ge ne ra l l y of s hort-te rm ma turi ty, the  di re ctors  cons i de r the  ca rryi ng a mounts  to a pproxi ma te  the i r fa i r
va l ue . Al l  re ce i va bl e s  a re  non-i nte re s t be a ri ng a nd uns e cure d. 

 
15 Cash and cash equivalents

     
 Group Group Company Company
 2024 2023 2024 2023

£ £ £ £
Ca s h a t ba nk a nd on ha nd 1,742,315 934,861 1,736,428 684,532



Ca s h a t ba nk a nd on ha nd 1,742,315 934,861 1,736,428 684,532
Ca s h ba l a nce s  a re  he l d wi th HSBC Ba nk pl c a nd e a rn i nte re s t a t fl oa ti ng ra te s  ba s e d on da i l y ba nk de pos i t ra te s .

16 Trade and other payables
     
 Group Group Company Company
 2024 2023 2024 2023

£ £ £ £
Tra de  pa ya bl e s 8,862 15,833 8,862 15,833
Amounts  due  to re l a te d pa rti e s - - 168,968 30,472
Othe r ta xe s  a nd s oci a l  s e curi ty 15,061 32,093 13,994 30,968
Accrua l s  a nd othe r cre di tors 80,222 101,730 73,977 71,284

104,145 149,656 265,801 148,557

 
Due  to the  s hort-te rm ma turi ty of tra de  pa ya bl e s , the  di re ctors  cons i de r the  ca rryi ng a mounts  to a pproxi ma te  the i r fa i r va l ue .
Tra de  pa ya bl e s  a re  non-i nte re s t be a ri ng a nd a re  norma l l y s e ttl e d on 30-da y te rms .
 
17 Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the company and movements thereon:
 

Balances Group Group Company Company
 2024 2023 2024 2023

£ £ £ £
Non curre nt a s s e t i nve s tme nt ti mi ng di ffe re nce s - 944,050 - 944,050

- 944,050 - 944,050

 
Movements in the year

   Group Company
£ £

Li a bi l i ty a t 1 Apri l  2023 944,050 944,050
Cha rge  to profi t a nd l os s (944,050) (944,050)
Li a bi l i ty a t 31 Ma rch 2024 - -

 
Al l  de fe rre d ta x l i a bi l i ti e s  wi l l  be  s e ttl e d, i n gre a te r tha n one  ye a r.
 
18 Share capital

2024 2023
 £ £
Authori s e d
68,674,431 ordi na ry s ha re s  of 2 pe nce  e a ch
(2023: 68,674,431 ordi na ry s ha re s  of 2 pe nce  e a ch) 1,373,489 1,373,489

   
Al l otte d, ca l l e d up a nd ful l y pa i d
63,723,489 ordi na ry s ha re s  of 2 pe nce  e a ch
(2023: 63,723,489 ordi na ry s ha re s  of 2 pe nce  e a ch) 1,274,469 1,274,469

 

The  Compa ny ha s  one  cl a s s  of ordi na ry s ha re s . Al l  s ha re s  ca rry e qua l  vo4ng ri ghts , e qua l  ri ghts  to i ncome  a nd di s tri bu4on of
a s s e ts  on l i qui da ti on or othe rwi s e , a nd no ri ght to fi xe d i ncome . 
Reconciliation of movements during the year

 
Share Premium

Share
Capital

At 1 April 2023 5,370,711 1,274,469
I s s ue  of ful l y pa i d s ha re s - -
Cos t of s ha re s  i s s ue d - -
At 31 March 2024  5,370,711 1,274,469

 
Reconciliation of share movements during the year

At 1 April 2023 63,723,489
I s s ue  of ful l y pa i d s ha re s -
At 31 March 2024   63,723,489

 
19 Share-based payments          
Share Option Scheme
On 17 De ce mbe r 2020, the  compa ny cre a te d a  s ha re  s che me  i n orde r to provi de  a  l ong te rm i nce n4ve  pl a n for the  di re ctors ,
e mpl oye e s  a nd cons ul ta nts  of the  group "the  Sha re  Opti on Pl a n".
2020 Award
On 17 De ce mbe r 2020 a  numbe r of di re ctors , e mpl oye e s  a nd cons ul ta nts  we re  a wa rde d 2,350,000 s ha re s  a t a n e xe rci s e  pri ce  of
£0.17. The re  we re  no condi 4ons  a Ka che d to the s e  a nd the y e xpi re  10 ye a rs  from the  da te  of gra nt. The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt wa s
worke d out on the  Bl a ck Schol e s  mode l . The  fol l owi ng i nforma 4on i s  re l e va nt i n the  de te rmi na 4on of the  fa i r va l ue  of op4ons
gra nte d unde r the  2020 a wa rd.
 
Gra nt da te                                                               17/12/2020



Gra nt da te                                                               17/12/2020
Numbe r of a wa rds                                                  2,350,000
Sha re  pri ce                                                               £0.17
Exe rci s e  pri ce                                                           £0.17
Expe cte d di vi de nd yi e l d                                          -
Expe cte d vol a ti l i ty                                                  171.74%
Ri s k fre e  ra te                                                           0.40%
Ve s ti ng pe ri od                                                        10 ye a rs
Expe cte d l i fe  (from da te  of gra nt)                         1.5 ye a rs
 
The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2024 wa s  £Ni l  (2023: £Ni l ).
 
2021 Award
On 13 Octobe r 2021 two di re ctors  we re  a wa rde d 3,500,000 s ha re s  a t a n e xe rci s e  pri ce  of £0.315. The  op4ons  ve s t on 14 Octobe r
2022 a nd a re  e xe rci s a bl e  up to 14 Octobe r 2031.  The  op4ons  a re  a l s o s ubje ct to pe rforma nce  cri te ri a  unde r whi ch the  op4ons
ca n onl y be  e xe rci s e d i f the  a ve ra ge  s ha re  pri ce  ove r a  30 cons e cu4ve  ca l e nda r da y pe ri od ha s  be e n 20 pe r ce nt. hi ghe r tha n the
op4on e xe rci s e  pri ce .  The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt wa s  worke d out on the  Monte  Ca rl o mode l . The  fol l owi ng i nforma 4on i s
re l e va nt i n the  de te rmi na ti on of the  fa i r va l ue  of opti ons  gra nte d unde r the  2020 a wa rd.
 
Gra nt da te                                                               14/10/2021
Numbe r of a wa rds                                                  3,500,000
Sha re  pri ce                                                               £0.315
Exe rci s e  pri ce                                                           £0.315
Expe cte d di vi de nd yi e l d                                          -
Expe cte d vol a ti l i ty                                                  69.27%
Ri s k fre e  ra te                                                           0.372%
Ve s ti ng pe ri od                                                        10 ye a rs
Expe cte d l i fe  (from da te  of gra nt)                         1 ye a r
 
On 9 Ma y 2022, 1,500,000 we re  ca nce l l e d a nd re pl a ce d wi th s ha re s  unde r ne w condi 4ons .  The  e xe rci s e  pri ce  of the  Ne w Op4ons
i s  14p, be i ng the  cl os i ng mi d-ma rke t pri ce  of a n Ordi na ry Sha re  on 6 Ma y 2022, the  l a te s t pra c4ca bl e  da te  pri or to the  da te  of
gra nt. The  Ne w Op4ons  wi l l  ve s t from 9 Ma y 2023 a nd be  e xe rci s a bl e  up to 9 Ma y 2032, s ubje ct to con4nue d e mpl oyme nt a nd a n
a ddi 4ona l  pe rforma nce  re l a te d cri te ri a  tha t the  cl os i ng pri ce  of a n Ordi na ry Sha re  mus t e xce e d 31.5p, be i ng the  e xe rci s e  pri ce  of
the  Hi s tori c Op4ons , for 10 da ys  wi thi n a ny pe ri od of 30 da ys . The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt wa s  worke d out unde r the  Monte  Ca rl o
mode l  a nd di dn't re s ul t i n a  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge .
 
The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2024 wa s  £81,289 (2023: £208,645).
 
2023 Award
On 27 Ma rch 2023, a  furthe r 2,500,000 we re  gra nte d to two boa rd me mbe rs  a nd coul d be  ve s te d ove r the  ne xt 12 months , once
ce rta i n pe rforma nce  cri te ri a  we re  me t. As  the s e  we re  ma rke t re l a te d, the  Monte  Ca rl o mode l  wa s  us e d. A furthe r 450,000 s ha re s
we re  gra nte d to two boa rd me mbe rs  a nd one  othe r pe rs on not on the  boa rd. The re  we re  no pe rforma nce  condi 4ons  a Ka che d to
the s e  opti ons .
The  fol l owi ng i nforma ti on i s  re l e va nt i n the  de te rmi na ti on of the  fa i r va l ue  of opti ons  gra nte d unde r the  2020 a wa rd.
 
                                                                                Sha re s  wi th opti ons                                 Sha re s  wi thout opti ons
Gra nt da te                                                               27/03/2023                                             27/03/2023
Numbe r of a wa rds                                                  2,500,000                                                450,000
Sha re  pri ce                                                               £0.078                                                     £0.078
Exe rci s e  pri ce                                                           £0.078                                                     £0.078
Expe cte d di vi de nd yi e l d                                          -                                                               -
Expe cte d vol a ti l i ty                                                  50.91%                                                    50.91%
Ri s k fre e  ra te                                                           5.10%                                                      5.10%
Ve s ti ng pe ri od                                                        10 ye a rs                                                   10 ye a rs
Expe cte d l i fe  (from da te  of gra nt)                         1.5 ye a rs                                                  1.5 ye a rs
 
The  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for the  ye a r e nde d 31 Ma rch 2024 wa s  £45,696 (2023: £10,578)
The  tota l  s ha re  ba s e d pa yme nt cha rge  for a l l  s che me s  i n the  ye a r wa s  £126,985 (2023: £219,223)
 
Share Options arising from the New Scheme
The  curre nt ye a r move me nt i n Sha re  Opti ons  i s  s umma ri s e d be l ow:

Da te  of Gra nt

At 1
Apri l
 2023

No of
Opti ons
gra nte d
i n ye a r

No of
Opti ons

e xe rci s e d
i n ye a r

No of
Opti ons
l a ps e d
i n ye a r

At 31
Ma rch

2024
Exe rci s e

Pri ce
Da te  fi rs t

e xe rci s a bl e Expi ry da te
Employment Options granted

17 De c 2020 1,096,000 - - - 1,096,000 £0.17 17 De c 2020 16 De c 2030
14 Oct 2021 2,976,192 - - - 2,976,192 £0.315 14 Oct 2022 14 Oct 2031

27 Ma r 2023 2,900,000 - - - 2,900,000 £0.0775 27 Ma r 2024 27 Ma r 2033
27 Ma r 2023 50,000 - - - 50,000 £0.0775 27 Ma r 2023 27 Ma r 2033

7,022,192 - - - 7,022,192

The  we i ghte d a ve ra ge  pri ce  wa s  £0.19 (2023: £0.19). At the  ye a r e nd, the  numbe r of e xe rci s a bl e  s ha re s  we re  7,022,192 (2023:
7,022,192) wi th a  we i ghte d l i fe  of 8.02 ye a rs  (2023: 9.02 ye a rs ).
The  pre vi ous  ye a r move me nt i n Sha re  Opti ons  i s  s umma ri s e d be l ow:

Da te  of Gra nt

At 1
Apri l
 2022

No of
Opti ons
gra nte d
i n ye a r

No of
Opti ons

e xe rci s e d
i n ye a r

No of
Opti ons
l a ps e d
i n ye a r

At 31
Ma rch

2023
Exe rci s e

Pri ce
Da te  fi rs t

e xe rci s a bl e Expi ry da te
Employment Options granted



17 De c 2020 1,096,000 - - - 1,096,000 £0.17 17 De c 2020 16 De c 2030
14 Oct 2021 3,500,000 - (523,808) 2,976,192 £0.315 14 Oct 2022 14 Oct 2031

27 Ma r 2023 - 2,900,000 - - 2,900,000 £0.0775 27 Ma r 2024 27 Ma r 2033
27 Ma r 2023 - 50,000 - - 50,000 £0.0775 27 Ma r 2023 27 Ma r 2033

4,596,000 2,950,000 - (523,808) 7,022,192

 
The  cha rge  ma de  i n re s pe ct of the  fa i r va l ue  of opti ons  gra nte d wa s :

   2024  2023
  £ £

Expe ns e  a ri s i ng from e qui ty-s e ttl e d s ha re -ba s e d pa yme nts  tra ns a cti ons 126,985 219,223

 

                                                               
20 Related party disclosures
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s  (note  14) i ncl ude  the  fol l owi ng a mounts  due  from s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs :

 
 

 
2024

£

 
 2023

£
The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Li mi te d - 105,504
Bra ve he a rt Aca de mi c Se e d Fundi ng 5,331 5,628

5,331 111,132

 
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s  (note  16) i ncl ude  the  fol l owi ng a mounts  due  to s ubs i di a ry unde rta ki ngs :

 
 

 2024
£

 2023
£

Ri di ngs  Hol di ngs  Li mi te d 119,412 30,412
Ca l e doni a  Portfol i o Re a l i s a ti ons 15,000 -
The  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny
Li mi te d

34,496 -

Combrook Hol di ngs  Li mi te d 60 60
168,968 30,472

 
Al l  a bove  a mounts  a re  uns e cure d, i nte re s t fre e  a nd re pa ya bl e  on de ma nd. Tra ns a c4ons  be twe e n the  Compa ny a nd i ts
s ubs i di a ri e s  a re  e l i mi na te d on cons ol i da ti on.
The  Di re ctors  ha ve  a gre e d tha t, whi l e  a mounts  due  to Group compa ni e s  a re  i ncl ude d i n tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s  due  wi thi n
one  ye a r a s  the y a re  te chni ca l l y pa ya bl e  on de ma nd, pa yme nt of the s e  a mounts  wi l l  not be  re qui re d unl e s s  the  compa ny i s  a bl e
to do s o.
Duri ng the  ye a r, Bra ve he a rt cha rge d the  Ri di ngs  Ea rl y Growth Inve s tme nt Compa ny Ltd £Ni l  (2023: £Ni l ) i n re s pe ct of a
ma na ge me nt cha rge . Duri ng the  ye a r, Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group Pl c ge ne ra te d re ve nue  of £17,296 (2023: £32,302) from  The
La che s i s  Se e d Fund Li mi te d Pa rtne rs hi p, a  Ge ne ra l  Pa rtne r tha t the  group ha ve  a n i nte re s t i n.
Duri ng the  ye a r, Bra ve he a rt cha rge d Ki rks ta l l  Li mi te d £26,667 (2023: £15,000) i n re s pe ct of a  ma na ge me nt cha rge .   The  ba l a nce
owe d to Bra ve he a rt a t ye a r e nd wa s  £164,354 (2023: £10,752) a l though thi s  wa s  i mpa i re d to £Ni l  a t the  ye a r e nd.  Duri ng the  ye a r,
the  Boa rd ha d concl ude d tha t Ki rks ta l l 's  s hort-te rm  pros pe cts  ha ve  re duce d  a nd i t no l onge r be l i e ve s  tha t Bra ve he a rt's
outs ta ndi ng l oa ns  to  Ki rks ta l l  wi l l  be  re pa i d i n  the  s hort-te rm. A de ci s i on ha s  the re fore  be e n ma de  to wri te  down the  va l ue  of
the  Compa ny's   l oa n re ce i va bl e  i n Ki rks ta l l  to £Ni l .

Duri ng the  ye a r, Bra ve he a rt cha rge d Pa ra yte c Li mi te d £13,333 (2023: £Ni l ) i n re s pe ct of a  ma na ge me nt cha rge .  At the  ye a r e nd,
Pa ra yte c owe d Bra ve he a rt £1,438,200 (2023: £1,155,200). Duri ng the  ye a r,  the  Boa rd ha d concl ude d tha t Pa ra yte c's  s hort-te rm
pros pe cts  ha ve  re duce d  a nd i t no l onge r be l i e ve s  tha t Bra ve he a rt's  outs ta ndi ng l oa ns  to  Pa ra yte c wi l l  be  re pa i d i n  the  s hort-
te rm. A de ci s i on ha s  the re fore  be e n ma de  to wri te  down the  va l ue  of the  Compa ny's  l oa n re ce i va bl e  i n Pa ra yte c to £Ni l .
 
Non-Exe cu4ve  Di re ctor, Qu Li , i s  a l s o a  Di re ctor a nd ma jor s ha re hol de r of Agi l e  Impa ct Ca pi ta l  Ltd. Duri ng the  ye a r Agi l e  Ca pi ta l
Impa ct Ltd cha rge d the  Bra ve he a rt Inve s tme nt Group pl c a  tota l  of £35,118 (2023: £31,750) i n re s pe ct of s e rvi ce s  provi de d by Dr Li .
The  ba l a nce  outs ta ndi ng a t ye a r e nd wa s  £Ni l  (2023: £3,300).
 
21 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Group and Company)
The  Group a nd Compa ny's  fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  compri s e  i nve s tme nts  de s i gna te d a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s , ca s h a nd
va ri ous  i te ms  s uch a s  tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s , a nd tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s , a l l  of whi ch a ri s e  di re ctl y from i ts  norma l
ope ra ti ons . 
The  ca rryi ng va l ue s  of a l l  of the  Group a nd Compa ny's  fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  a pproxi ma te  the i r fa i r va l ue s  a t 31 Ma rch 2024 a nd
31 Ma rch 2023. The  Accounti ng Pol i ci e s  de s cri be d i n note  2 outl i ne s  how the  fi na nci a l  i ns trume nts  a re  me a s ure d.
An a na l ys i s  of the  s ta te me nt of fi na nci a l  pos i ti on, re l e va nt to a n a na l ys i s  of ri s k ma na ge me nt, i s  a s  fol l ows :
 

Financial instruments   

Designated at fair
value though profit

or loss

Loans and
receivables at

amortised cost

Non-financial assets
& financial assets

outside the scope of
IFRS 9 Total

£ £ £ £
GROUP
2024
Inve s tme nts 1,653,341 - - 1,653,341
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s - 20,071 85,636 105,707
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 1,742,315 - 1,742,315
 1,653,341 1,762,386 85,636 3,501,363

 
2023
Inve s tme nts 9,458,324 - - 9,458,324
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s - 1,197,078 22,632 1,219,710
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 934,861 - 934,861



Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 934,861 - 934,861
9,458,324 2,131,939 22,632 11,612,895

 
COMPANY
2024
Inve s tme nts 1,653,323 - - 1,653,323
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s - 20,071 59,068 79,139
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 1,736,428 - 1,736,428

1,653,323 1,756,499 59,068 3,468,890

2023
Inve s tme nts 9,423,482 - - 9,423,482
Tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s - 1,279,555 22,632 1,302,187
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 684,532 - 684,532
 9,423,482 1,964,087 22,632 11,410,201

  
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
21 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Group and Company) (continued)

 

 

Other financial
liabilities at

amortised cost
Financial liabilities at

fair value Total
£ £ £

GROUP
2024
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 104,145 - 104,145
Borrowi ngs - - -
 104,145 - 104,145
 
2023
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 149,656 - 149,656
Borrowi ngs - - -
 149,656 - 149,656

 
COMPANY
2024
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 265,801 - 265,801

265,801 - 265,801

 
2023
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 148,557 - 148,557

148,557 - 148,557

 
One  of the  Group's  pri nci pa l  obje c4ve s  a nd pol i ci e s  i s  to a chi e ve  i ncome  a nd ca pi ta l  ga i ns  through i nve s tme nt i n e qui ty s ha re s
i n a  portfol i o of UK compa ni e s , the  ma jori ty of whi ch a re  unl i s te d.
Through i ts  norma l  ope ra 4ons  the  Group i s  e xpos e d to a  numbe r of fina nci a l  ri s ks , na me l y cre di t ri s k, l i qui di ty ri s k a nd ma rke t
ri s k. The  Boa rd re vi e ws  a nd a gre e s  pol i ci e s  for ma na gi ng e a ch of the s e  ri s ks  a s  s umma ri s e d be l ow.
 
Credit risk
Cre di t ri s k a ri s e s  from the  e xpos ure  to the  ri s k of l os s  i f the  counte rpa rty fa i l s  to pe rform i ts  fina nci a l  obl i ga 4ons  to the  Group.
The  Group's  fina nci a l  a s s e ts  pre domi na ntl y compri s e  i nve s tme nts  de s i gna te d a t fa i r va l ue  through profit or l os s , a nd ca s h.  In
a ccorda nce  wi th i ts  Inve s tme nt Pol i cy, the  Group s e e ks  to ma na ge  cre di t ri s k re l a te d to i ts  i nve s tme nts  through de ta i l e d
i nve s tme nt s e l e c4on cri te ri a  a nd di ve rs i fica 4on a nd by pl a ci ng l i mi ts  on i ndi vi dua l  i nve s tme nts . In a ccorda nce  wi th i ts  Tre a s ury
Pol i cy, the  Group s e e ks  to mi 4ga te  thi s  ri s k on  ca s h by pl a ci ng funds  onl y wi th ba nks  wi th hi gh cre di t-ra 4ngs  a s s i gne d by
i nte rna ti ona l  cre di t-ra ti ng a ge nci e s .
The  Group ha s  no s i gni fica nt conce ntra 4on of cre di t ri s k wi thi n a ny of i ts  othe r fina nci a l  a s s e ts .  Incl ude d wi thi n s uch othe r
fina nci a l  a s s e ts  a re  ba l a nce s  whi ch a re  pa s t due  a t the  re por4ng da te  for whi ch the  Group ha s  not provi de d a s  the re  ha s  not
be e n a  s i gni fica nt cha nge  i n the i r cre di t qua l i ty a nd whi ch the  Group be l i e ve s  a re  ful l y re cove ra bl e .  The  a ge  profil e  of the  Group
a nd Compa ny's  othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts  i s  a s  fol l ows :

 

 

Neither past
due nor

impaired
Less than 3

months
3 to 12

months
More than 1

year Total
£ £ £ £ £

GROUP
2024



2024
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s 8,199 - 1,800 21,900 31,899
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 73,808 - - - 73,808

 82,007 - 1,800 21,900 105,707

 
2023
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s 5,355 5,071 2,400 18,300 31,126
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 1,188,584 - - - 1,188,584

 1,193,939 5,071 2,400 18,300 1,219,710

COMPANY
2024
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s - - - - -
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 73,808 - - - 73,808
Amounts  due  from re l a te d pa rti e s 5,331 - - - 5,331
Amounts  due  from i nve s tme nt compa ni e s - - - - -
 79,139 - - - 79,139

 
2023
Tra de  re ce i va bl e s 2,471 - - - 2,471
Othe r re ce i va bl e s 22,632 - - - 22,632
Amounts  due  from re l a te d pa rti e s 111,132 - - - 111,132
Amounts  due  from i nve s tme nt compa ni e s 1,165,952 - - - 1,165,952
 1,302,187 - - - 1,302,187

 

The  Group cons i de rs  i ts  e xpos ure  to cre di t ri s k i s  ne gl i gi bl e . The  Group's  ba nk ba l a nce  of £1,742,315 a t the  ye a r-e nd i s  he l d i n a
ba nk wi th a  hi gh cre di t ra 4ng a nd the  tra de  a nd othe r re ce i va bl e s  of £105,707 a re  cl os e l y moni tore d a s  pa rt of the  cre di t control
proce s s . 
 
Liquidity risk
Li qui di ty ri s k i s  the  ri s k tha t the  Group wi l l  not be  a bl e  to me e t i ts  fi na nci a l  obl i ga ti ons  a s  the y fa l l  due .
The  Group s e e ks  to ma na ge  i ts  l i qui di ty ri s k by hol di ng s uffici e nt ca s h re s e rve s  to me e t fore s e e a bl e  ne e ds , a nd by i nve s 4ng
ca s h a s s e ts  s a fe l y. The  Group con4nuous l y moni tors  rol l i ng ca s h flow fore ca s ts  to e ns ure  s uffici e nt ca s h i s  a va i l a bl e  for
a n4ci pa te d ca s h re qui re me nts  a nd, i n a ccorda nce  wi th i ts  Tre a s ury Pol i cy, the  Group onl y i nve s ts  ca s h a s s e ts  wi th re puta bl e
counte rpa rti e s .
 
The  ma turi ty profi l e  of the  Group a nd Compa ny's  fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s  i s  a s  fol l ows :

 On demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

More than 1
year Total

£ £ £ £ £
GROUP
2024
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 102,782 925 438 - 104,145
 102,782 925 438 - 104,145

 
2023
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 144,362 4,159 1,135 - 149,656
 144,362 4,159 1,135 - 149,656

 
COMPANY
2024
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 95,470 925 438 - 96,833
Amounts  due  to re l a te d pa rti e s 168,968 - - - 168,968
 264,438 925 438 - 265,801

 
2023
Tra de  a nd othe r pa ya bl e s 112,791 4,159 1,135 - 118,085
Amounts  due  to re l a te d pa rti e s 30,472 - - - 30,472
 143,263 4,159 1,135 - 148,557

 
 
Market Risk
Ma rke t ri s k i s  the  ri s k tha t cha nge s  i n ma rke t condi 4ons  s uch a s  e qui ty pri ce s , i nte re s t ra te s  a nd fore i gn e xcha nge  ra te s  wi l l
ha ve  a n a dve rs e  i mpa ct on the  Group's  fi na nci a l  pos i ti on or re s ul ts .
Equity price risk
The  Group i s  e xpos e d to e qui ty pri ce  ri s k due  to unce rta i n4e s  a bout future  va l ue s  of i ts  porCol i o of l i s te d a nd unl i s te d e qui ty
i nve s tme nts . The  Group ma na ge s  s uch e qui ty pri ce  ri s k i n a  s i mi l a r wa y to cre di t ri s k through de ta i l e d i nve s tme nt s e l e c4on
cri te ri a  a nd di ve rs i fica 4on a nd by pl a ci ng l i mi ts  on i ndi vi dua l  i nve s tme nts .  Inve s tme nts  a re  moni tore d ca re ful l y a nd the  Boa rd
re vi e ws  the  portfol i o on a  re gul a r ba s i s .
 
Interest rate risk
The  Group fina nce s  i ts  ope ra 4ons  through e qui ty fundi ng a s  oppos e d to de bt a nd the re fore  mi ni mi s e s  i ts  e xpos ure  to i nte re s t
ra te  ri s ks .  The  Group a nd Compa ny's  fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  a re  non-i nte re s t be a ri ng, wi th the  e xce p4on of l oa n note s  whi ch
a ttra ct fi xe d ra te  i nte re s t, a nd ca s h ba l a nce s  whi ch a ttra ct va ri a bl e  i nte re s t ra te s  de te rmi ne d wi th re fe re nce  to the  ba nk i nte re s t
ra te .

The  i nte re s t ra te  profil e  of the  Group a nd Compa ny's  fina nci a l  i ns trume nts  i s
a s  fol l ows :  

Fixed Rate Variable
Rate

Interest free Total



Rate
GROUP £ £ £ £
2024
Financial assets
Inve s tme nts : e qui ty - - 1,653,341 1,653,341
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 1,742,315 - 1,742,315
Othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts - - 105,707 105,707

- 1,742,315 1,759,048 3,501,363

Financial liabilities
Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 104,145 104,145
 - - 104,145 104,145

 
2023
Financial assets
Inve s tme nts : e qui ty - - 9,458,324 9,458,324
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 934,861 - 934,861
Othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts - - 1,219,710 1,219,710

- 934,861 10,678,034 11,612,895

Financial liabilities
Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 149,656 149,656
 - - 149,656 149,656
 
Interest rate risk  

Fixed Rate Variable
Rate

Interest free Total

COMPANY £ £ £ £
2024
Financial assets
Inve s tme nts : e qui ty - - 1,653,323 1,653,323
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 1,736,428 - 1,736,428
Othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts - - 79,139 79,139

- 1,736,428 1,732,462 3,468,890

 
Financial liabilities
Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 265,801 265,801
 - - 265,801 265,801

 
2023
Financial assets
Inve s tme nts : e qui ty - - 9,423,482 9,423,482
Ca s h a nd ca s h e qui va l e nts - 684,532 - 684,532
Othe r fi na nci a l  a s s e ts - - 1,302,187 1,302,187

- 684,532 10,725,669 11,410,201
 
Financial liabilities
Othe r fi na nci a l  l i a bi l i ti e s - - 148,557 148,557
 - - 148,557 148,557

 
It i s  e s 4ma te d tha t the  ma xi mum e ffe ct of a  one  pe rce nta ge  poi nt (100 ba s i s  poi nts ) fa l l  i n i nte re s t ra te s  to whi ch the  Group i s
e xpos e d woul d be  a  de cre a s e  i n profit be fore  ta x for the  twe l ve  months  to 31 Ma rch 2024 of £17,423 (2023: £9,349). For the
compa ny, thi s  woul d be  £17,364 (2023: £6,845).
Foreign currency risk
The  Group ha s  no ma te ri a l  e xpos ure  to fore i gn curre ncy ri s k.
 
22 Ultimate controlling party
The re  i s  no ul ti ma te  control l i ng pa rty.
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	During the year, we continued the comprehensive review of our cost base and continued to reduce the central costs.
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	Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
	The KPIs we use to monitor business performance have been changed in order to better reflect the emphasis that the Board has placed upon the development of the Strategic Investments as the best way to increase shareholder value over the short and medium term. Given the nature of our business, these KPI's remain as, primarily, financial measures.  They are:
	The value of investments has reduced significantly in the year mainly due to the sale of Phase Focus Holdings (£2,502,000) and also the reduction in valuations of Kirkstall (£1,675,000) and Paraytec (£3,038,000).
	Principal Risks and Uncertainties
	20 June 2024
	Unquoted investments have been valued by the directors in compliance with the principles of the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Guidelines as endorsed by the European Venture Capital Association (EVCA).  The use of such valuation techniques requires the directors to make certain judgements including making assessments of future revenue and earnings of portfolio companies, appropriate multiples to apply, and marketability and other risk discounts and provisions, and hence they are subject to uncertainty. Management believes that in their experience, the last round share price tends to be the most reliable method of calculating these investments, unless there is a major change to the company since that point as there is a proven basis for the share price. The fair value of unquoted investments of the Group at 31 March 2024 was £39,246 (2023: £2,574,938) and of the Parent Company was £39,228 (2023: £2,574,567). The value of investments has reduced significantly in the year mainly due to the sale of Phase Focus Holdings (£2,502,000).
	The Group has potential cumulative unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect of:


